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Background to the VCPA 

The Virginia Protection Act (“VCPA”) is intended to be “applied as remedial legislation 

to promote fair and ethical standards of dealings between suppliers and the consuming public.” 

Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-197.  The VCPA codified and supplemented the common law definitions 

of fraud and misrepresentation. 1985-86 Va. Op. Att'y Gen. 324 (1985)(citing State ex rel. 

Danforth v. Independence Dodge, Inc., 494 S.W.2d 362 (Mo. App. 1973).  “The legislative 

purpose underlying the VCPA was, in large part, to expand the remedies afforded to consumers 

and to relax the restrictions imposed upon them by the common law.” Owens v. DRS Auto. 

Fantomworks, Inc., 764 S.E.2d 256, 260 (Va. 2014).  The VCPA must be liberally construed to 

further its goal to protect consumers from unethical  and unfair business practices. See Holmes v. 

LG Marion Corp., 258 Va. 473, 521 S.E.2d 528, 532 (1999); Valley Acceptance Corp. v. Glasby, 

230 Va. 422, 428, 337 S.E.2d 291, 295 (1985) (holding that acts remedial in nature “must be 

liberally construed to avoid the mischief at which it is directed and to advance the remedy for 

which it was promulgated.”). 

In 1914, Congress established the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) to protect consumers 

against false advertising and deceitful commercial schemes which common law tools were 

inadequate to protect against. Victor E. Schwartz & Cary Silverman, Common-Sense 

Construction of Consumer Protection Acts, 54 U. Kan. L. Rev. 1, 7-8 (2005).  Initially, Congress 

passed the FTC Act and authorized the FTC to regulate unfair methods of competition. The FTC 

Act was later amended to declare unlawful all “unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 

commerce,” and this laid the foundation for federal consumer protection today. Id.  During the 

1960s and 1970s, many states adopted their own consumer protection agencies often referred to 

as “little-FTC Acts.” Id. at 15.        

The VCPA is based on the model statute promulgated by the Council on State 

Governments in conjunction with the Federal Trade Commission. 1985-86 Va. Op. Att'y Gen. 

324 (1985) (citations omitted).  Although Virginia has not specified the precedential value of 

FTC interpretations to the VCPA, implementation of such model statutes, or “little-FTC Acts,” is 

to be guided by FTC construction and interpretation. See Board of Supervisors v. Boaz, 176 Va. 

126, 131, 10 S.E.2d 498 (1940)(interpreting model worker’s compensation statute similar to 

previous interpretation by Indiana); see, e.g., Russell v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc, 510 A.2d 

972, 976 (1986). (“This court has repeatedly held, in accordance with this statutory instruction, 

that Federal Trade Commission (FTC) rulings and cases under the Federal Trade Commission 

Act (FTC Act) serve as a lodestar for interpretation of the open-ended language of Connecticut 

Unfair Trade Practices Act.” ); Luskin's, Inc. v. Consumer Prot. Div., 726 A.2d 702, 716 (Md. 

1999); Commonwealth by Creamer v. Monumental Properties, Inc., 329 A.2d 812, 818 (1974); 

Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Rogers, 329 So. 2d 257, 263 (Fla. 1976); Carter v. Gugliuzzi, 716 A.2d 

17, 21 (Vt. 1998). 

To arm consumers with a tool to combat deceptive practices in the marketplace, the 

Virginia General Assembly, like most other states, intended the prohibitions of its consumer 

protection statute to apply in a broader and more remedial context than the narrow common law 



 
 

fraud action.  “The VCPA's proscription of conduct by suppliers in consumer transactions 

extends considerably beyond fraud.”  Owens, 764 S.E.2d at 260.  In Owens, the Court opined 

that the VCPA’s “remedial purpose would be nullified by an interpretation of the VCPA that 

construed it as merely declarative of the common law.” Id.   
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§ 59.1-196. Title. 

This chapter may be cited as the Virginia Consumer Protection Act of 1977. 

§ 59.1-197. Intent. 

It is the intent of the General Assembly that this chapter shall be applied as remedial legislation 

to promote fair and ethical standards of dealings between suppliers and the consuming public. 

 

§ 59.1-198. Definitions. 

As used in this chapter: 

"Business opportunity" means the sale of any products, equipment, supplies or services which 

are sold to an individual for the purpose of enabling such individual to start a business to be 

operated out of his residence, but does not include a business opportunity which is subject to the 

Business Opportunity Sales Act, Chapter 21 (§ 59.1-262 et seq.) of this title. 

 

"Children's product" means a consumer product designed or intended primarily for children 12 

years of age or younger. In determining whether a consumer product is primarily intended for a 

child 12 years of age or younger, the following factors shall be considered: 

1. A statement by a manufacturer about the intended use of such product, including a label on 

such product if such statement is reasonable; 

2. Whether the product is represented in its packaging, display, promotion, or advertising as 

appropriate for use by children 12 years of age or younger; 

3. Whether the product is commonly recognized by consumers as being intended for use by a 

child 12 years of age or younger; and 

4. The Age Determination Guidelines issued by the staff of the Consumer Products Safety 

Commission in September 2002, and any successor to such guidelines. 

"Consumer transaction" means: 

1. The advertisement, sale, lease, license or offering for sale, lease or license, of goods or 

services to be used primarily for personal, family or household purposes; 

2. Transactions involving the advertisement, offer or sale to an individual of a business 

opportunity that requires both his expenditure of money or property and his personal services on 

a continuing basis and in which he has not been previously engaged; 

3. Transactions involving the advertisement, offer or sale to an individual of goods or services 

relating to the individual's finding or obtaining employment; 

4. A layaway agreement, whereby part or all of the price of goods is payable in one or more 

payments subsequent to the making of the layaway agreement and the supplier retains possession 

of the goods and bears the risk of their loss or damage until the goods are paid in full according 

to the layaway agreement; 

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/59.1-262/


 
 

5. Transactions involving the advertisement, sale, lease, or license, or the offering for sale, lease 

or license, of goods or services to a church or other religious body; and 

6. Transactions involving the advertisement of legal services that contain information about the 

results of a state or federal survey, inspection, or investigation of a nursing home or certified 

nursing facility as described in subsection E of § 32.1-126. 

"Cure offer" means a written offer of one or more things of value, including but not limited to 

the payment of money, that is made by a supplier and that is delivered to a person claiming to 

have suffered a loss as a result of a consumer transaction or to the attorney for such person. A 

cure offer shall be reasonably calculated to remedy a loss claimed by the person and it shall 

include a minimum additional amount equaling 10 percent of the value of the cure offer or $500, 

whichever is greater, as compensation for inconvenience, any attorney's or other fees, expenses, 

or other costs of any kind that such person may incur in relation to such loss; provided, however 

that the minimum additional amount need not exceed $4,000. 

"Defective drywall" means drywall, or similar building material composed of dried gypsum-

based plaster, that (i) as a result of containing the same or greater levels of strontium sulfide that 

has been found in drywall manufactured in the People's Republic of China and imported into the 

United States between 2004 and 2007 is capable, when exposed to heat, humidity, or both, of 

releasing sulfur dioxide, hydrogen sulfide, carbon disulfide, or other sulfur compounds into the 

air or (ii) has been designated by the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission as a product 

with a product defect that constitutes a substantial product hazard within the meaning of § 

15(a)(2) of the Consumer Product Safety Act (15 U.S.C. § 2064 (a)(2)). 

"Goods" means all real, personal or mixed property, tangible or intangible. For purposes of this 

chapter, intangible property includes but shall not be limited to "computer information" and 

"informational rights" in computer information as defined in § 59.1-501.2. 

"Person" means any natural person, corporation, trust, partnership, association and any other 

legal entity. 

"Services" includes but shall not be limited to (i) work performed in the business or occupation 

of the supplier, (ii) work performed for the supplier by an agent whose charges or costs for such 

work are transferred by the supplier to the consumer or purchaser as an element of the consumer 

transaction, or (iii) the subject of an "access contract" as defined in § 59.1-501.2. 

"Supplier" means a seller, lessor, licensor, or professional who advertises, solicits, or engages in 

consumer transactions, or a manufacturer, distributor, or licensor who advertises and sells, 

leases, or licenses goods or services to be resold, leased, or sublicensed by other persons in 

consumer transactions. 

§ 59.1-199. Exclusions. 

Nothing in this chapter shall apply to: 

A. Any aspect of a consumer transaction which aspect is authorized under laws or regulations of 

this Commonwealth or the United States, or the formal advisory opinions of any regulatory body 

or official of this Commonwealth or the United States. 

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/32.1-126/
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B. Acts done by the publisher, owner, agent or employee of a newspaper, periodical, or radio or 

television station, or other advertising media such as outdoor advertising and advertising 

agencies, in the publication or dissemination of an advertisement in violation of § 59.1-200, 

unless it be proved that such person knew that the advertisement was of a character prohibited by 

§ 59.1-200. 

 

C. Those aspects of a consumer transaction which are regulated by the Federal Consumer Credit 

Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq. 

D. Banks, savings institutions, credit unions, small loan companies, public service corporations, 

mortgage lenders as defined in § 6.2-1600, broker-dealers as defined in § 13.1-501, gas suppliers 

as defined in subsection E of § 56-235.8, and insurance companies regulated and supervised by 

the State Corporation Commission or a comparable federal regulating body. 

 

E. Any aspect of a consumer transaction which is subject to the Landlord and Tenant Act, (§ 

55.1-1200 et seq.) or Chapter 14 (§ 55.1-1400 et seq.) of Title 55.1, unless the act or practice of a 

landlord constitutes a misrepresentation or fraudulent act or practice under § 59.1-200. 

 

F. Real estate licensees who are licensed under Chapter 21 (§ 54.1-2100 et seq.) of Title 54.1. 

 

§ 59.1-200. Prohibited practices. 

A. The following fraudulent acts or practices committed by a supplier in connection with a 

consumer transaction are hereby declared unlawful: 

1. Misrepresenting goods or services as those of another; 

2. Misrepresenting the source, sponsorship, approval, or certification of goods or services; 

3. Misrepresenting the affiliation, connection, or association of the supplier, or of the goods or 

services, with another; 

4. Misrepresenting geographic origin in connection with goods or services; 

5. Misrepresenting that goods or services have certain quantities, characteristics, ingredients, 

uses, or benefits; 

6. Misrepresenting that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or 

model; 

7. Advertising or offering for sale goods that are used, secondhand, repossessed, defective, 

blemished, deteriorated, or reconditioned, or that are "seconds," irregulars, imperfects, or "not 

first class," without clearly and unequivocally indicating in the advertisement or offer for sale 

that the goods are used, secondhand, repossessed, defective, blemished, deteriorated, 

reconditioned, or are "seconds," irregulars, imperfects or "not first class"; 

8. Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised, or with intent not to 

sell at the price or upon the terms advertised. 

http://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/59.1-200/
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In any action brought under this subdivision, the refusal by any person, or any employee, agent, 

or servant thereof, to sell any goods or services advertised or offered for sale at the price or upon 

the terms advertised or offered, shall be prima facie evidence of a violation of this subdivision. 

This paragraph shall not apply when it is clearly and conspicuously stated in the advertisement or 

offer by which such goods or services are advertised or offered for sale, that the supplier or 

offeror has a limited quantity or amount of such goods or services for sale, and the supplier or 

offeror at the time of such advertisement or offer did in fact have or reasonably expected to have 

at least such quantity or amount for sale; 

9. Making false or misleading statements of fact concerning the reasons for, existence of, or 

amounts of price reductions; 

10. Misrepresenting that repairs, alterations, modifications, or services have been performed or 

parts installed; 

11. Misrepresenting by the use of any written or documentary material that appears to be an 

invoice or bill for merchandise or services previously ordered; 

12. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, using in any manner the words "wholesale," 

"wholesaler," "factory," or "manufacturer" in the supplier's name, or to describe the nature of the 

supplier's business, unless the supplier is actually engaged primarily in selling at wholesale or in 

manufacturing the goods or services advertised or offered for sale; 

13. Using in any contract or lease any liquidated damage clause, penalty clause, or waiver of 

defense, or attempting to collect any liquidated damages or penalties under any clause, waiver, 

damages, or penalties that are void or unenforceable under any otherwise applicable laws of the 

Commonwealth, or under federal statutes or regulations; 

13a. Failing to provide to a consumer, or failing to use or include in any written document or 

material provided to or executed by a consumer, in connection with a consumer transaction any 

statement, disclosure, notice, or other information however characterized when the supplier is 

required by 16 C.F.R. Part 433 to so provide, use, or include the statement, disclosure, notice, or 

other information in connection with the consumer transaction; 

14. Using any other deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation in 

connection with a consumer transaction; 

15. Violating any provision of § 3.2-6512, 3.2-6513, or 3.2-6516, relating to the sale of certain 

animals by pet dealers which is described in such sections, is a violation of this chapter; 

 

16. Failing to disclose all conditions, charges, or fees relating to: 

a. The return of goods for refund, exchange, or credit. Such disclosure shall be by means of a 

sign attached to the goods, or placed in a conspicuous public area of the premises of the supplier, 

so as to be readily noticeable and readable by the person obtaining the goods from the supplier. If 

the supplier does not permit a refund, exchange, or credit for return, he shall so state on a similar 

sign. The provisions of this subdivision shall not apply to any retail merchant who has a policy of 

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/3.2-6512/
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providing, for a period of not less than 20 days after date of purchase, a cash refund or credit to 

the purchaser's credit card account for the return of defective, unused, or undamaged 

merchandise upon presentation of proof of purchase. In the case of merchandise paid for by 

check, the purchase shall be treated as a cash purchase and any refund may be delayed for a 

period of 10 banking days to allow for the check to clear. This subdivision does not apply to sale 

merchandise that is obviously distressed, out of date, post season, or otherwise reduced for 

clearance; nor does this subdivision apply to special order purchases where the purchaser has 

requested the supplier to order merchandise of a specific or unusual size, color, or brand not 

ordinarily carried in the store or the store's catalog; nor shall this subdivision apply in connection 

with a transaction for the sale or lease of motor vehicles, farm tractors, or motorcycles as defined 

in § 46.2-100; 

b. A layaway agreement. Such disclosure shall be furnished to the consumer (i) in writing at the 

time of the layaway agreement, or (ii) by means of a sign placed in a conspicuous public area of 

the premises of the supplier, so as to be readily noticeable and readable by the consumer, or (iii) 

on the bill of sale. Disclosure shall include the conditions, charges, or fees in the event that a 

consumer breaches the agreement; 

16a. Failing to provide written notice to a consumer of an existing open-end credit balance in 

excess of $5 (i) on an account maintained by the supplier and (ii) resulting from such consumer's 

overpayment on such account. Suppliers shall give consumers written notice of such credit 

balances within 60 days of receiving overpayments. If the credit balance information is 

incorporated into statements of account furnished consumers by suppliers within such 60-day 

period, no separate or additional notice is required; 

17. If a supplier enters into a written agreement with a consumer to resolve a dispute that arises 

in connection with a consumer transaction, failing to adhere to the terms and conditions of such 

an agreement; 

18. Violating any provision of the Virginia Health Club Act, Chapter 24 (§ 59.1-294 et seq.); 

 

19. Violating any provision of the Virginia Home Solicitation Sales Act, Chapter 2.1 (§ 59.1-

21.1 et seq.); 

 

20. Violating any provision of the Automobile Repair Facilities Act, Chapter 17.1 (§ 59.1-

207.1 et seq.); 

 

21. Violating any provision of the Virginia Lease-Purchase Agreement Act, Chapter 17.4 

(§ 59.1-207.17 et seq.); 

 

22. Violating any provision of the Prizes and Gifts Act, Chapter 31 (§ 59.1-415 et seq.); 

 

23. Violating any provision of the Virginia Public Telephone Information Act, Chapter 32 

(§ 59.1-424 et seq.); 

24. Violating any provision of § 54.1-1505; 
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25. Violating any provision of the Motor Vehicle Manufacturers' Warranty Adjustment Act, 

Chapter 17.6 (§ 59.1-207.34 et seq.); 

 

26. Violating any provision of § 3.2-5627, relating to the pricing of merchandise; 

 

27. Violating any provision of the Pay-Per-Call Services Act, Chapter 33 (§ 59.1-429 et seq.); 

 

28. Violating any provision of the Extended Service Contract Act, Chapter 34 (§ 59.1-435 et 

seq.); 

 

29. Violating any provision of the Virginia Membership Camping Act, Chapter 25 (§ 59.1-311 et 

seq.); 

 

30. Violating any provision of the Comparison Price Advertising Act, Chapter 17.7 (§ 59.1-

207.40 et seq.); 

 

31. Violating any provision of the Virginia Travel Club Act, Chapter 36 (§ 59.1-445 et seq.); 

 

32. Violating any provision of §§ 46.2-1231 and 46.2-1233.1; 

 

33. Violating any provision of Chapter 40 (§ 54.1-4000 et seq.) of Title 54.1; 

 

34. Violating any provision of Chapter 10.1 (§ 58.1-1031 et seq.) of Title 58.1; 

 

35. Using the consumer's social security number as the consumer's account number with the 

supplier, if the consumer has requested in writing that the supplier use an alternate number not 

associated with the consumer's social security number; 

36. Violating any provision of Chapter 18 (§ 6.2-1800 et seq.) of Title 6.2; 

 

37. Violating any provision of § 8.01-40.2; 

 

38. Violating any provision of Article 7 (§ 32.1-212 et seq.) of Chapter 6 of Title 32.1; 

 

39. Violating any provision of Chapter 34.1 (§ 59.1-441.1 et seq.); 

 

40. Violating any provision of Chapter 20 (§ 6.2-2000 et seq.) of Title 6.2; 

 

41. Violating any provision of the Virginia Post-Disaster Anti-Price Gouging Act, Chapter 46 

(§ 59.1-525 et seq.); 

 

42. Violating any provision of Chapter 47 (§ 59.1-530 et seq.); 

 

43. Violating any provision of § 59.1-443.2; 
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44. Violating any provision of Chapter 48 (§ 59.1-533 et seq.); 

 

45. Violating any provision of Chapter 25 (§ 6.2-2500 et seq.) of Title 6.2; 

 

46. Violating the provisions of clause (i) of subsection B of § 54.1-1115; 

 

47. Violating any provision of § 18.2-239; 

 

48. Violating any provision of Chapter 26 (§ 59.1-336 et seq.); 

 

49. Selling, offering for sale, or manufacturing for sale a children's product the supplier knows or 

has reason to know was recalled by the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission. There is a 

rebuttable presumption that a supplier has reason to know a children's product was recalled if 

notice of the recall has been posted continuously at least 30 days before the sale, offer for sale, or 

manufacturing for sale on the website of the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission. This 

prohibition does not apply to children's products that are used, secondhand or "seconds"; 

50. Violating any provision of Chapter 44.1 (§ 59.1-518.1 et seq.); 

 

51. Violating any provision of Chapter 22 (§ 6.2-2200 et seq.) of Title 6.2; 

 

52. Violating any provision of § 8.2-317.1; 

 

53. Violating subsection A of § 9.1-149.1; 

 

54. Selling, offering for sale, or using in the construction, remodeling, or repair of any residential 

dwelling in the Commonwealth, any drywall that the supplier knows or has reason to know is 

defective drywall. This subdivision shall not apply to the sale or offering for sale of any building 

or structure in which defective drywall has been permanently installed or affixed; 

55. Engaging in fraudulent or improper or dishonest conduct as defined in § 54.1-1118 while 

engaged in a transaction that was initiated (i) during a declared state of emergency as defined in 

§ 44-146.16 or (ii) to repair damage resulting from the event that prompted the declaration of a 

state of emergency, regardless of whether the supplier is licensed as a contractor in the 

Commonwealth pursuant to Chapter 11 (§ 54.1-1100 et seq.) of Title 54.1; 

 

56. Violating any provision of Chapter 33.1 (§ 59.1-434.1 et seq.); 

 

57. Violating any provision of § 18.2-178, 18.2-178.1, or 18.2-200.1;  

 

58.  Violating any provision of Chapter 17.8 (§ 59.1-207.45 et seq.); 

59. Violating any provision of subsection E of § 32.1-126; and 
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60. Violating any provision of § 54.1-111 relating to the unlicensed practice of a profession 

licensed under Chapter 11 (§ 54.1-1100 et seq.) or Chapter 21 (§ 54.1-2100 et seq.) of Title 54.1. 

 

B. Nothing in this section shall be construed to invalidate or make unenforceable any contract or 

lease solely by reason of the failure of such contract or lease to comply with any other law of the 

Commonwealth or any federal statute or regulation, to the extent such other law, statute, or 

regulation provides that a violation of such law, statute, or regulation shall not invalidate or make 

unenforceable such contract or lease. 

§ 59.1-200.1. Prohibited practices; foreclosure rescue. 

A. In addition to the provisions of § 59.1-200, the following fraudulent acts or practices 

committed by a supplier, as defined in § 59.1-198, in a consumer transaction involving 

residential real property owned and occupied as the primary dwelling unit of the owner, are 

prohibited: 

1. The supplier of service to avoid or prevent foreclosure charges or receives a fee (i) prior to the 

full and complete performance of the services it has agreed to perform, if the transaction does not 

involve the sale or transfer of residential real property, or (ii) prior to the settlement on the sale 

or transfer of residential real property, if the transaction involves the sale or transfer of such 

residential real property; 

2. The supplier of such services (i) fails to make payments under the mortgage or deed of trust 

that is a lien on such residential real property as the payments become due, where the supplier 

has agreed to do so, regardless of whether the purchaser is obligated on the loan, and (ii) applies 

rents received from such dwellings for his own use; 

3. The supplier of such services represents to the seller of such residential real property that the 

seller has an option to repurchase such residential real property, after the supplier of such 

services takes legal or equitable title to such residential real property, unless there is a written 

contract providing such option to repurchase on terms and at a price stated in such contract; or 

4. The supplier advertises or offers such services as are prohibited by this section. 

B. This section shall not apply to any mortgage lender or servicer regularly engaged in making or 

servicing mortgage loans that is subject to the supervisory authority of the State Corporation 

Commission, a comparable regulatory authority of another state, or a federal banking agency. 

C. In connection with any consumer transaction covered by subsection A, any provision in an 

agreement between the supplier of such services and the owner of such residential real property 

that requires the owner to submit to mandatory arbitration shall be null and void, and 

notwithstanding any such provisions, the owner of such residential real property shall have the 

rights and remedies under this chapter. 

§ 59.1-201. Civil investigative orders. 

A. Whenever the attorney for the Commonwealth or the attorney for a county, city, or town has 

reasonable cause to believe that any person has engaged in, or is engaging in, or is about to 

engage in, any violation of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1, the attorney for the Commonwealth or the 
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attorney for a county, city, or town if, after making a good faith effort to obtain such information, 

is unable to obtain the data and information necessary to determine whether such violation has 

occurred, or that it is impractical for him to do so, he may apply to the circuit court within whose 

jurisdiction the person having information resides, or has its principal place of business, for an 

investigative order requiring such person to furnish to the attorney for the Commonwealth or 

attorney for a county, city, or town such data and information as is relevant to the subject matter 

of the investigation. 

B. The circuit courts are empowered to issue investigative orders, authorizing discovery by the 

same methods and procedures as set forth for civil actions in the Rules of the Supreme Court of 

Virginia, in connection with investigations of violations of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1 by the 

attorney for the Commonwealth or the attorney for a county, city, or town. An application for an 

investigative order shall identify: 

1. The specific act or practice alleged to be in violation of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1; 

2. The grounds which shall demonstrate reasonable cause to believe that a violation of § 59.1-

200 or 59.1-200.1 may have occurred, may be occurring or may be about to occur; 

3. The category or class of data or information requested in the investigative order; and 

4. The reasons why the attorney for the Commonwealth or attorney for a county, city, or town is 

unable to obtain such data and information, or the reason why it is impractical to do so, without a 

court order. 

 

C. Within 21 days after the service upon a person of an investigative order, or at any time before 

the return date specified in such order, whichever is later, such person may file a motion to 

modify or set aside such investigative order or to seek a protective order as provided by the 

Rules of the Supreme Court of Virginia. Such motion shall specify the grounds for modifying or 

setting aside the order, and may be based upon the failure of the application or the order to 

comply with the requirements of this section, or upon any constitutional or other legal basis or 

privilege of such person. 

D. Where the information requested by an investigative order may be derived or ascertained 

from the business records of the person upon whom the order is served, or from an examination, 

audit or inspection of such business records, or from a compilation, abstract or summary thereof, 

and the burden of deriving or ascertaining the information is substantially the same for the 

attorney for the Commonwealth or attorney for a county, city, or town as for the person from 

whom such information is requested, it shall be sufficient for that person to specify the records 

from which the requested information may be derived or ascertained, and to afford the attorney 

for the Commonwealth or attorney for the county, city, or town reasonable opportunity to 

examine, audit or inspect such records and to make copies, compilations, abstracts or summaries 

thereof. 

E. It shall be the duty of the attorney for the Commonwealth or attorney for a county, city, or 

town, his assistants, employees and agents, to maintain the secrecy of all evidence, documents, 

data and information obtained through the use of investigative orders or obtained as a result of 

the voluntary act of the person under investigation and it shall be unlawful for any person 

participating in such investigations to disclose to any other person not participating in such 

investigation any information so obtained. Any person violating this subsection shall be guilty of 
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a Class 2 misdemeanor and shall be punished in accordance with § 18.2-11. Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, this section shall not preclude the presentation and disclosure of any information 

obtained pursuant to this section in any suit or action in any court of this Commonwealth 

wherein it is alleged that a violation of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1 has occurred, is occurring or 

may occur, nor shall this section prevent the disclosure of any such information by the attorney 

for the Commonwealth or attorney for a county, city, or town to any federal or state law-

enforcement authority that has restrictions governing confidentiality and the use of such 

information similar to those contained in this subsection; however, such disclosures may only be 

made as to information obtained after July 1, 1979. 

F. Upon the failure of a person without lawful excuse to obey an investigative order under this 

section, the attorney for the Commonwealth or attorney for the county, city, or town may initiate 

contempt proceedings in the circuit court that issued the order to hold such person in contempt. 

G. No information, facts or data obtained through an investigative order shall be admissible in 

any civil or criminal proceeding other than for the enforcement of this chapter and the remedies 

provided herein. 

§ 59.1-201.1. Attorney General empowered to issue civil investigative demands. 

Whenever the Attorney General has reasonable cause to believe that any person has engaged in, 

or is engaging in, or is about to engage in, any violation of this chapter, the Attorney General is 

empowered to issue a civil investigative demand. The provisions of § 59.1-9.10 shall apply 

mutatis mutandis to civil investigative demands issued pursuant to this section. 

 

§ 59.1-202. Assurances of voluntary compliance. 

A. The Attorney General, the attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for a county, city, 

or town may accept an assurance of voluntary compliance with this chapter from any person 

subject to the provisions of this chapter. Any such assurance shall be in writing and be filed with 

and be subject on petition to the approval of the appropriate circuit court. Such assurance of 

voluntary compliance shall not be considered an admission of guilt or a violation for any 

purpose. Such assurance of voluntary compliance may at any time be reopened by the Attorney 

General, or the attorney for the Commonwealth, or attorney for the county, city, or town 

respectively, for additional orders or decrees to enforce the assurance of voluntary compliance. 

B. When an assurance is presented to the circuit court for approval, the Attorney General, the 

attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for the appropriate county, city, or town shall 

file, in the form of a motion for judgment or complaint, the allegations which form the basis for 

the entry of the assurance. The assurance may provide by its terms for any relief which an 

appropriate circuit court could grant, including but not limited to restitution, arbitration of 

disputes between the supplier and its customers, investigative expenses, civil penalties and costs; 

provided, however, that nothing in this chapter shall be construed to authorize or require the 

Commonwealth, the Attorney General, an attorney for the Commonwealth or the attorney for 

any county, city or town to participate in arbitration of violations under this section. 

§ 59.1-203. Restraining prohibited acts. 
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A. Notwithstanding any other provisions of law to the contrary, the Attorney General, any 

attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for any city, county, or town may cause an 

action to be brought in the appropriate circuit court in the name of the Commonwealth, or of the 

county, city, or town to enjoin any violation of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1. The circuit court 

having jurisdiction may enjoin such violations notwithstanding the existence of an adequate 

remedy at law. In any action under this section, it shall not be necessary that damages be proved. 

B. Unless the Attorney General, any attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for any 

county, city, or town determines that a person subject to the provisions of this chapter intends to 

depart from this Commonwealth or to remove his property herefrom, or to conceal himself or his 

property herein, or on a reasonable determination that irreparable harm may occur if immediate 

action is not taken, he shall, before initiating any legal proceedings as provided in this section, 

give notice in writing that such proceedings are contemplated, and allow such person a 

reasonable opportunity to appear before said attorney and show that a violation did not occur or 

execute an assurance of voluntary compliance, as provided in § 59.1-202. 

C. The circuit courts are authorized to issue temporary or permanent injunctions to restrain and 

prevent violations of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1. 

D. The Commissioner of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services, or his duly 

authorized representative, shall have the power to inquire into possible violations of subdivisions 

A 18, 28, 29, 31, 39, and 41, as it relates to motor fuels, of § 59.1-200 and § 59.1-335.12, and, if 

necessary, to request, but not to require, an appropriate legal official to bring an action to enjoin 

such violation. 

 

§ 59.1-204. Individual action for damages or penalty. 

A. Any person who suffers loss as the result of a violation of this chapter shall be entitled to 

initiate an action to recover actual damages, or $500, whichever is greater. If the trier of fact 

finds that the violation was willful, it may increase damages to an amount not exceeding three 

times the actual damages sustained, or $1,000, whichever is greater. Any person who accepts a 

cure offer under this chapter may not initiate or maintain any other or additional action based on 

any cause of action arising under any other statute or common law theory if such other action is 

substantially based on the same allegations of fact on which the action initiated under this 

chapter is based. 

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in addition to any damages 

awarded, such person also may be awarded reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs. 

C. No cure offer shall be admissible in any proceeding initiated under this section, unless the 

cure offer is delivered by a supplier to the person claiming loss or to any attorney representing 

such person, prior to the filing of the supplier's initial responsive pleading in such proceeding. If 

the cure offer is timely delivered by the supplier, then the supplier may introduce the cure offer 

into evidence at trial. The supplier shall not be liable for such person's attorneys' fees and court 

costs incurred following delivery of the cure offer unless the actual damages found to have been 

sustained and awarded, without consideration of attorneys' fees and court costs, exceed the value 

of the cure offer. 
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D. In any action which the parties desire to settle all matters in dispute, the question of whether 

the plaintiff shall be awarded reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs in accordance with 

subsections B and C may be tendered to the court for consideration of the amount of such an 

award, if any. 

§ 59.1-204.1. Tolling of limitation. 

A. Any individual action pursuant to § 59.1-204 for which the right to bring such action first 

accrues on or after July 1, 1995, shall be commenced within two years after such accrual. The 

cause of action shall accrue as provided in § 8.01-230. 

B. When any of the authorized government agencies files suit under this chapter, the time during 

which such governmental suit and all appeals therefrom is pending shall not be counted as any 

part of the period within which an action under § 59.1-204 shall be brought. 

 

§ 59.1-205. Additional relief. 

The circuit court may make such additional orders or decrees as may be necessary to restore to 

any identifiable person any money or property, real, personal, or mixed, tangible or intangible, 

which may have been acquired from such person by means of any act or practice declared to be 

unlawful in § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1, provided, that such person shall be identified by order of 

the court within 180 days from the date of the order permanently enjoining the unlawful act or 

practice. 

 

§ 59.1-206. Civil penalties; attorney's fees. 

A. In any action brought under this chapter, if the court finds that a person has willfully engaged 

in an act or practice in violation of § 59.1-200 or 59.1-200.1, the Attorney General, the attorney 

for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for the county, city, or town may recover for the Literary 

Fund, upon petition to the court, a civil penalty of not more than $2,500 per violation. For 

purposes of this section, prima facie evidence of a willful violation may be shown when the 

Attorney General, the attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for the county, city, or 

town notifies the alleged violator by certified mail that an act or practice is a violation of § 59.1-

200 or 59.1-200.1, and the alleged violator, after receipt of said notice, continues to engage in the 

act or practice. 

B. Any person who willfully violates the terms of an assurance of voluntary compliance or an 

injunction issued under § 59.1-203 shall forfeit and pay to the Literary Fund a civil penalty of not 

more than $5,000 per violation. For purposes of this section, the circuit court issuing an 

injunction shall retain jurisdiction, and the cause shall be continued, and in such cases the 

Attorney General, the attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for the county, city, or 

town may petition for recovery of civil penalties. 

C. In any action pursuant to subsection A or B and in addition to any other amount awarded, the 

Attorney General, the attorney for the Commonwealth, or the attorney for the county, city, or 

town may recover any applicable civil penalty or penalties, costs, reasonable expenses incurred 

by the state or local agency in investigating and preparing the case not to exceed $1,000 per 

violation, and attorney's fees. Such civil penalty or penalties, costs, reasonable expenses, and 
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attorney's fees shall be paid into the general fund of the Commonwealth or of the county, city, or 

town which such attorney represented. 

D. Nothing in this section shall be construed as limiting the power of the court to punish as 

contempt the violation of any order issued by the court, or as limiting the power of the court to 

enter other orders under § 59.1-203 or 59.1-205. 

E. The right of trial by jury as provided by law shall be preserved in actions brought under this 

section. 

§ 59.1-207. Unintentional violations. 

In any case arising under this chapter, no liability shall be imposed upon a supplier who shows 

by a preponderance of the evidence that (i) the act or practice alleged to be in violation of § 59.1-

200 or 59.1-200.1 was an act or practice of the manufacturer or distributor to the supplier over 

which the supplier had no control or (ii) the alleged violation resulted from a bona fide error 

notwithstanding the maintenance of procedures reasonably adopted to avoid a violation; 

however, nothing in this section shall prevent the court from ordering restitution and payment of 

reasonable attorney's fees and court costs pursuant to § 59.1-204 B to individuals aggrieved as a 

result of an unintentional violation of this chapter. 
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PRIOR HISTORY:  [***1]    

Appeal from a judgment of the Circuit Court of the City of Roanoke. Hon. Kenneth E. Trabue, 

judge presiding. 

 

DISPOSITION: Record No. 821880 -- Affirmed in part, reversed in part. 

 

Record No. 821881 -- Affirmed in part, reversed in part. 
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 Show Headnotes 

 

COUNSEL: John H. Kennett, Jr., for appellants. (Record Nos. 821880 and 821881.) 

 

Henry L. Woodward (Alan T. Gravitt, on brief), for appellees. (Record Nos. 821880 and 

821881.) 

 

JUDGES: Thomas, J., delivered the opinion of the Court. Cochran, J., dissenting. Stephenson, J., 

joins in dissent. 

 

OPINIONBY: THOMAS 

 

OPINION:  [*424]   [**292]  The predominant issue in these two appeals is whether a loan 

which,  [***5]  in principal amount, falls below the ceiling for small loans as set forth in the 

Small Loan Act (the Act), n1 is subject to the provisions of the Act even though the loan is 

labeled a mortgage loan. The trial court held that the Act applies in such a situation. We agree. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n1 At the time of the loans here under review, Code § 6.1-247 et seq. was known as the Small 

Loan Act. In 1981, the name of the Act was changed to the Consumer Finance Act. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 



 
 

I. Background 

 

A. The Harper Loan 

 

In early 1976, Rufus W. Harper and Zelpha Lee Harper (the Harpers) sought to borrow a small 

amount of money for personal purposes. They were homeowners. They responded to an 

advertisement by Valley Acceptance Corporation (Valley) which stated that Valley made 

mortgage loans. Though they applied to Valley for a loan, the loan they ultimately received was 

not from Valley; it was from Virginia C. Wiesen, Valley's president. 

 

The loan documents were prepared on April 7, 1976. The principal amount of the loan was $ 

850.00.  [***6]  The Harpers received $ 667.63 of the loan proceeds. The amount in excess of $ 

667.63 was used to pay delinquent  [**293]  property taxes. In order to secure the $ 850.00 loan, 

the Harpers obligated themselves to repay Wiesen a total of $ 2,056.25 over five years and to 

give Wiesen a deed of trust on their home. The total repayment amount agreed to by the Harpers 

included, in addition to the loan amount, a recording fee of $ 25; attorney's fees of $ 100; 

appraisal fees of $ 50; interest of $ 881.25; and a broker's fee of $ 150, paid to Valley. The 

annual percentage rate of the Harper loan was 31.75%. 

 

At the time of the Harper loan, the small loan ceiling was $ 1,500 in principal amount. At that 

time, Wiesen was not licensed to make loans covered by the Act. She was in the lending 

business, but the loans she made were secured by real estate; and she  [*425]  had made ten loans 

in five years that were within the small loan limit, but which were nonetheless secured by deeds 

of trust. 

 

The Harpers sued, claiming that the loan violated the Act. The trial court ruled in favor of the 

Harpers and granted them summary judgment against Wiesen. In so ruling, the trial court stated  

[***7]  the following reasons: 

  

1. that Wiesen was engaged in the business of lending in amounts below the then established size 

of loan ceiling or less within the meaning of the Small Loan Act, 

2. that the principal amount of the Harper Loan was below the then current ceiling for small 

loans, 

3. that Wiesen violated the Act in three respects: 

a. she was not licensed to make small loans 

b. she imposed charges and fees prohibited by the Act; and 

c. she took a security interest in real estate in violation of the Act, and 

4. that the attempt to avoid the applicability of the Act by use of a first deed of trust on real estate 

constituted a device, subterfuge, or pretense to evade the Act as described in Code § 6.1-251. 

 

The trial court declared the loan void, entered summary judgment against Wiesen, and continued 

the case for trial on the Harpers' claim for punitive damages and attorneys fees. After a hearing 

on those issues, the trial court awarded the Harpers punitive damages of $ 450.00, with interest, 

against Valley. Valley and Wiesen appeal. 

 



 
 

B. The Glasby Loan 

 

In late 1979, Carlton Glasby and Gloria Glasby (the Glasbys) sought to borrow  [***8]  $ 500 to 

pay utility bills. They were homeowners. They responded to an advertisement by Valley which 

stated that Valley made mortgage loans. Though they applied to Valley for a loan, the loan they 

actually received was not from Valley; it was from Wiesen, still Valley's president. 

 

The loan documents were prepared on October 31, 1979. The principal amount of the Glasby 

loan was $ 550, which the Glasbys received. In order to secure the $ 550 loan, the Glasbys 

obligated  [*426]  themselves to repay Wiesen a total of $ 2,416.80 over four years and to give 

Wiesen a deed of trust on their home. The total repayment amount agreed to by the Glasbys 

included, in addition to the loan amount, a charge for credit life and credit accident insurance of 

$ 237.57; recording fees of $ 100; attorney's fees of $ 300; appraisal fees of $ 200; interest of $ 

789.30; "points" of $ 93.81; mortgage guaranty insurance premiums of $ 31.73; a "service 

charge" of $ 31.88; and a broker's fee of $ 82.50 paid to Valley. The annual percentage rate of 

the Glasby loan was 30.48%. 

 

At the time of the Glasby loan, the small loan ceiling was $ 2,300 in principal amount. At that 

time, Wiesen was not licensed  [***9]  to make loans covered by the Act. She was in the lending 

business, but the loans she made were secured by real estate; and she had made ten loans in five 

years that were within the small loan amount, but which were nonetheless secured by deeds of 

trust. 

 

The Glasbys sued, claiming that the loan violated the Act. The trial court ruled in the Glasbys' 

favor and granted them summary judgment against Wiesen. The bases for the court's ruling in 

Glasby were  [**294]  essentially the same as in Harper. The trial court declared the Glasby loan 

void, entered summary judgment against Wiesen, and continued the case for trial on the Glasbys' 

claims for punitive damages and attorney's fees. n2 After a hearing, which was consolidated with 

the Harper hearing, the trial court awarded the Glasbys punitive damages of $ 247.50, with 

interest, against Valley. In addition, the court awarded the Glasbys attorney's fees of $ 250.00 

with interest, again against Valley. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n2 One of the collateral issues in this appeal is whether Wiesen appealed in a timely fashion 

from the summary judgment entered against her on March 12, 1982. She waited until the court 

ruled on punitive damages and attorney's fees in a July 19, 1982 order before appealing. This 

was proper. The March order makes clear on its face that the case was not entirely resolved as to 

Wiesen though a main portion of the case had been decided. An appeal from the March order 

would have been premature. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  [***10]  

 

II. Discussion 

 



 
 

Though the small loan ceiling changed between the time of the Harper loan and the Glasby loan, 

the Act remained essentially the same. Several provisions of the Act are central to this inquiry. 

We quote from the Act as it existed at the time of the Harper loan. 

 

The statute describes in general terms who must comply with its requirements: 

  

 [*427]  No person shall engage in the business of lending in amounts of the then established size 

of loan ceiling or less, and charge, contract for, or receive, directly or indirectly, on or in 

connection with any loan, any interest, charges, compensation, consideration or expense which in 

the aggregate are greater than the rate otherwise permitted by law except as provided in and 

authorized by this chapter and without first having obtained a license from the Commission. 

  

Code § 6.1-249 (emphasis added). 

 

Next, the statute carefully describes those who are exempted from its operation: 

  

No person doing business under the authority of any law of this State or of the United States 

relating to banks, savings banks, trust companies, building and loan associations, industrial loan 

associations,  [***11]  or credit unions shall be eligible to become a licensee under this chapter 

nor shall this chapter apply to any business transacted by any person under the authority of and 

as permitted by any such law, nor to any bona fide pawnbroking business transacted under 

pawnbroker's license, nor to anyone operating in accordance with the specific provisions of any 

other law heretofore or hereafter enacted. 

  

Code § 6.1-250. 

 

The statute then makes clear that attempts to evade its reach will not be permitted: 

  

The provisions of § 6.1-249 shall apply to any person who seeks to evade its application by any 

device, subterfuge, or pretense whatsoever. . . . 

  

Code § 6.1-251 (emphasis added). 

 

The statute next prohibits "additional charges": 

  

In addition to the charges herein provided for no further or other amount whatsoever for any 

examination service, brokerage, commission, fine, notarial fee, recordation fee or other thing or 

otherwise shall be directly or indirectly charged, contracted for or received. . . . 

  

 [*428]  Code § 6.1-278 (emphasis added). 

 

Finally, with regard to provisions pertinent to these appeals, the statute forbids  [***12]  liens on 

realty: 

  



 
 

No licensee shall take a lien upon real estate as security for any loan made under the provisions 

of this chapter, except a lien arising upon rendition of a judgment; and any such lien taken in 

violation of the provisions of this section shall be void. 

  

Code § 6.1-281 (emphasis added). 

 

[1] The Harpers and the Glasbys argue that the statutory provisions, taken together, lead 

inescapably to the conclusion that where the principal amount of a loan falls below the ceiling 

contained in the Act, then  [**295]  even if the lender is not licensed under the Act, and even if 

the loan is described as a mortgage loan, that loan is nevertheless subject to the Act. We agree. 

 

[2-3] The Act is remedial in nature. See Sweat v. Commonwealth, 152 Va. 1041, 1057, 148 S.E. 

774, 778 (1929). Consequently, it must be liberally construed to avoid the mischief at which it is 

directed and to advance the remedy for which it was promulgated. See Bowman v. 

Commonwealth, 201 Va. 656, 661, 112 S.E.2d 887, 891 (1960). In Sweat, we outlined the 

history of the Act: 

For some time prior to 1918, the money loan sharks and salary-buyers were  [***13]  doing 

business in Virginia and elsewhere, and often imposed upon the ignorant and the needy by 

making small loans to them upon unfair and unjust terms. In 1918, Virginia enacted her first 

uniform small loan law (Acts 1918, chapter 402) to regulate the manner of conducting this 

business. 

  

152 Va. at 1046, 148 S.E. at 775. The issue in Sweat was the constitutionality of the provision 

limiting the amount of interest that could be charged by a small loan lender. In upholding the 

constitutionality of the Act, we quoted with approval from the Maryland case of Palmore v. B & 

O Ry. Co., 156 Md. 4, 142 A. 495 (1928), as follows: 

  

"This act is remedial in character and its apparent purpose is to throw around transactions such as 

that involved in this  [*429]  case such safeguards as will protect the wage earner who may be a 

party to them from the greed and the rapacity of unscrupulous persons who might exploit his 

necessities and misfortunes to his loss and their profit." 

  

152 Va. at 1057, 148 S.E. at 778 (quoting Palmore, 156 Md. at 7, 142 A. at 496). 

 

In Van Dyke v. Commonwealth, 178 Va. 418, 17 S.E.2d 366 (1941), we reemphasized our  

[***14]  concern for victims of overreaching lenders. There, the defendant had been convicted of 

violating the Act by charging excessive interest. He claimed that the contract was one of hazard 

and therefore not covered by the Act. We rejected that argument and wrote as follows: 

Contracts of this character are scrutinized with care, and courts are alert to discover specious 

devices. The debtor often belongs to a class which needs protection, and his needs are sometimes 

so urgent as to extort from him any conditions which the creditor seeks to impose. Floyd would 

probably have agreed to pay $ 12.00 as readily as $ 11.00. 

 

"The cupidity of lenders, and the willingness of borrowers to concede whatever may be 

demanded or to promise whatever may be exacted in order to obtain temporary relief from 



 
 

financial embarrassment, as would naturally be expected, have resulted in a great variety of 

devices to evade the usury laws; and to frustrate such evasions the courts have been compelled to 

look beyond the form of a transaction to its substance, and they have laid it down as an inflexible 

rule that the mere form is immaterial, but that it is the substance which must be considered."  

[***15]  

 

  

Id. at 423-24, 17 S.E.2d at 369 (quoting 27 R.C.L. Usury, 211 (1920)) (emphasis added). 

 

The need to scrutinize with care loans made to borrowers caught in financial distress continues to 

be a valid concern. Moreover, it remains necessary today, as in 1941, for courts to look beyond 

the mere form of a transaction and analyze its substance. The reason for such scrutiny is nowhere 

more apparent than in these two appeals. For here, property owners in need of relatively small 

sums of money ended up encumbering their homes -- a result the Act seeks to prevent. The 

Harpers received an $ 850.00 loan at an interest rate of 31.75% and agreed to repay 

approximately  [*430]  two and one half times the loan amount when they could have secured 

the same loan from a regulated small loan lender at a maximum cost of approximately $ 522. The 

Glasbys received a $ 550 loan at an interest rate of 30.48% and agreed to repay approximately 

four and one half times the loan amount when they could have secured the same loan from a 

regulated  [**296]  small loan lender at a maximum cost of approximately $ 374. n3 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n3 During oral argument counsel for the Glasbys represented that had the Glasby loan been made 

under the Act it would have cost $ 374. This representation was not challenged by other counsel. 

Moreover, the $ 374 figure can be arrived at using the regulations on costs in effect at the time of 

the Glasby loan. See S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 475-76 (1979). The cost of the Harper loan was 

calculated using the applicable regulations in effect at the time of that loan. See S.C.C. Ann. Rep. 

307-08 (1974). 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  [***16]  

 

[4] In our opinion, when the statutory provisions are considered as a whole, it readily appears 

that the loans here in issue are covered by the Act. First, the Act contains specific exemptions. 

Wiesen does not claim any exemption nor does any appear to apply. This circumstance is of 

critical importance, for where a remedial statute provides exemptions, those not exempted must 

presumably be included. 

 

[5] Next, not only is Wiesen not exempted from the Act, she is caught by the Act's broad 

anti-evasion provision. The essence of her defense is that the loans here under review were not 

small loans, but were mortgage loans. Certainly, the loans were in the form of mortgage loans 

but the Act prohibits liens upon real estate as security for any loan made under the provisions of 

the chapter. In addition, even if a lender is not a licensee, the Act applies if the lender attempts to 

evade the Act. 

 



 
 

Wiesen contends that since the loans she made were mortgage loans, the Act simply does not 

apply. Wiesen's position leads to a conundrum: The Act prohibits loans below a certain principal 

amount with an aggregate interest rate above that permitted by law made by a lender without a 

license;  [***17]  the Act does not exempt Wiesen; Wiesen does not have a license; the Act 

applies to those who seek to avoid it; the Act forbids liens on realty; yet, the Act can be avoided 

by placing a lien on realty. The borrowers argue that since the loan was below the small loan 

ceiling it violated the Act because it involved a lien on realty. The lender argues that no matter 

the amount of the loan it does not violate the act because it involved a lien on realty. In short, the 

same premise is used to argue mutually contradictory conclusions. 

 

 [*431]  Further, in support of her argument that mortgage loans are not covered by the Act, 

Wiesen argues, without citation to evidence or authority, that the Act is simply not designed to 

protect people who own homes because those people have financial "clout" in that they can 

obtain mortgage loans where other borrowers cannot. Yet, this argument fails to address the 

point that the Act specifically prohibits liens on realty, a provision which would not be necessary 

if the Act were not meant to protect homeowners. Moreover, Wiesen's counsel conceded in oral 

argument that the Glasby and Harper loans make no economic sense. The fact that  [***18]  a 

homeowner would make a loan which makes no economic sense cuts against Wiesen's argument 

that homeowners are not intended to be protected by the Act because this concession suggests 

that even homeowners can find themselves in such economic distress that they will, for small 

sums, place the homestead in jeopardy. The Act is designed to prevent just such an occurrence. 

 

We reject Wiesen's argument that by making a small loan in the form of a mortgage loan a lender 

can avoid the application of the Act. Were we to adopt Wiesen's position, we would gut the Act 

because we would thereby allow a lender to escape the Act by doing exactly what it forbids. This 

would be an absurd result which would render the Act virtually meaningless. 

 

Wiesen also makes an historical argument to suggest that loans that fall below the small loan 

ceiling are not necessarily small loans. She states that until mortgage rates were deregulated in 

1970, the rate that could be charged for small loans was higher than that which could be charged 

for mortgage loans. Thus, she contends, for most of the history of the Act, a borrower of a small 

amount would have been happy to secure it by a mortgage because that  [***19]  borrower could 

have secured a lower interest rate. In light of this  [**297]  historical situation, Wiesen reasons 

that since a mortgage loan of a small amount would have been beneficial to a borrower until 

mortgage rates were deregulated, then the legislature did not intend for all loans within the small 

loan ceiling to be treated as small loans. 

 

This argument must also be rejected. Even when mortgage rates were lower than small loan 

rates, the Act prohibited liens on realty. This prohibition evidences a special legislative concern 

that a borrower of a small sum of money should not be allowed to put his one substantial 

asset -- his home -- at risk. 

 

 [*432]  [6] In addition, the Small Loan Act does not simply control interest rates; it also 

prohibits the imposition of other costs. In the Glasby loan, for example, other costs played a 

substantial part in increasing the total charges to the Glasbys. Most, if not all, of the other 



 
 

charges would have been eliminated under the Act. More specifically, in the Glasby loan, though 

the loan amount was $ 550.00, that was not the amount financed. $ 837.57 in other charges were 

added to the $ 550.00 before the interest was  [***20]  calculated. Then, $ 239.93 in prepaid 

finance charges were added on. The prohibition on "additional charges" -- charges which are 

routinely assessed when mortgage loans are made -- is further indication that the legislature 

intended loans below the small loan ceiling to be treated as small loans. 

 

[7] Making mortgage loans to the Harpers and the Glasbys was, in our opinion, simply a device 

designed to transform a small loan into something other than a small loan. At the same time, it 

caused the borrowers to pay more for their loans than the Act would have allowed. This conduct 

is sufficient to establish an evasion as defined in Code § 6.1-251. We hold therefore, in light of 

the policy concerns announced in Sweat and Van Dyke, and the language of the pertinent 

statutory provisions, that where, as here, a loan falls below the small loan ceiling and is made by 

a person in the business of making loans below that ceiling, then even though the loan is in the 

form of a mortgage loan, it will be treated as a small loan and thus will be subject to the Act. 

 

[8] In both appeals, Valley complains of punitive damage awards entered against it. Valley 

submits that these awards  [***21]  were improper because no compensatory damages were 

awarded against it. We agree. Here, neither compensatory damages nor nominal damages were 

awarded against Valley. Consequently, punitive damages could not be awarded. See Zedd v. 

Jenkins, 194 Va. 704, 74 S.E.2d 791 (1953). Therefore, we will reverse the portions of the 

judgments which awarded punitive damages against Valley. 

 

[9] In its appeal from the judgment in the Glasby case, Valley further contends that there was no 

basis for the award of attorney's fees against it under the Virginia Consumer Protection Act of 

1977, Code § 59.1-199(C). The trial court awarded $ 250.00 in attorney's fees, under Code § 

59.1-204, n4 for violation of Code §§  [*433]  59.1-200 (F) and (N). Valley says the Virginia 

Consumer Protection Act does not apply in this case because the loan is regulated by the Federal 

Consumer Credit Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq. and because Valley did nothing 

wrong. However, taking the last point first, Valley's counsel essentially conceded in oral 

argument that for Valley to charge a broker's fee for placing a loan with its president was, at the 

least, a "technical" wrong. Thus, there  [***22]  was wrongdoing on Valley's part. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n4 Code § 59.1-204 provides as follows: 

  

A. Any person who suffers loss as the result of a violation of § 59.1-200 shall be entitled to 

initiate an action to recover actual damages, or $ 100, whichever is greater. 

B. Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, in addition to any damages 

awarded, such person also may be awarded reasonable attorney's fees and court costs. 

Valley does not argue that an award of damages is a prerequisite to the award of attorney's fees 

pursuant to subsection 204(B). Consequently, we do not decide this issue. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 



 
 

 

[10] Next, the exclusion provision relied on by Valley reads in pertinent part as follows: 

  

 [**298]  Nothing in this chapter shall apply to: 

  

. . . 

Those aspects of a consumer transaction which are regulated by the Federal Consumer Credit 

Protection Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1601 et seq. 

  

Code § 59.1-199(C). By its terms, this exclusion applies only to "aspects" of a transaction 

regulated  [***23]  by the federal authorities. However, as the Glasbys point out, the federal act 

does not address all aspects of the Glasby loan. By its terms, the purpose of the federal act is "to 

assure a meaningful disclosure of credit terms. . . ." 15 U.S.C. § 1601(a) (1982). The federal act 

has nothing to do with the type of wrongful conduct engaged in by Valley. We hold, therefore, 

that the award of attorney's fees was proper. 

 

III. Conclusion 

 

For all the foregoing reasons, the judgments appealed from will be affirmed in part and reversed 

in part. 

 

Record No. 821880 - Affirmed in part, Reversed in part. 

 

 [*434]  Record No. 821881 - Affirmed in part, Reversed in part. 

 

DISSENTBY: COCHRAN 

 

DISSENT: COCHRAN, J., dissenting. 

 

I share the majority's sympathy for the borrowers in the present case who undoubtedly made bad 

bargains for themselves. In order to provide relief to these borrowers, however, the majority 

takes the position that one who makes a mortgage loan in an amount less than the maximum 

permitted under the Small Loan Act (now the Consumer Finance Act) is subject to the provisions 

of the Act. 

Under the Act, mortgage loans are not permitted. Therefore, according to  [***24]  the majority, 

appellant Wiesen, who was never licensed under the Act, attempted to evade compliance in 

violation of Code § 6.1-251 and became subject to the Act under Code § 6.1-249. Moreover, the 

majority holds that appellant Valley Acceptance Corporation, which arranged the loans as 

broker, is liable for the appellees' attorney's fees in the Glasby case under the provisions of Code 

§ 59.1-204, part of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act of 1977. I disagree with both 

conclusions. 

 

In my view, the Small Loan Act is not applicable to these loan transactions. Both the Harpers 

and the Glasbys answered an advertisement of Valley Acceptance Corporation offering mortgage 

loans. Both couples knew the loans were mortgage loans. Each couple was given a rescission 



 
 

form giving them the right, under federal law, to cancel the transaction within three business 

days. Each transaction was consummated as a mortgage loan with all the costs incident to that 

method of financing. That the costs were exorbitant in view of the small amount of each loan is 

undeniable. But there is no statutory prohibition against making mortgage loans in amounts 

below the maximum permitted by the Small Loan  [***25]  Act. Indeed, there may occasionally 

be necessity or at least justification for such a small mortgage loan. A borrower with limited 

income available for repayment of principal may resort to a mortgage loan payable upon future 

disposition of the property. 

 

The General Assembly has continued to enact laws to protect the poor and the ignorant from 

those who would otherwise prey upon them. Although no statute can be devised to redress every 

unwise or foolish business decision, whether made by the poor and ignorant or by the rich and 

learned, the General Assembly provides the appropriate forum to consider whether it is advisable 

in  [*435]  the public interest to ban or restrict small mortgage loans. Absent legislative action, I 

would hold that the loans in these cases were valid mortgage loans and that appellant Wiesen 

was not subject to the provisions of the Small Loan Act. 

 

Nor was the award of attorney's fees against Valley proper. The Virginia Consumer Protection 

Act authorizes an award of reasonable fees "in addition to any damages awarded." Code § 

59.1-204. No actual  [**299]  damages having been assessed against Valley for a violation of 

that act, the Glasbys may not  [***26]  recover attorney's fees. 
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OPINION:  [**715]   [*709]  In this appeal, we consider whether the trial court erred in granting 

a motion to strike the plaintiff's evidence on his claims for common law fraud and violation of 

the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Code §§ 59.1-196 through -207, arising from the 

purchase of a used car. 

 

BACKGROUND 

 

On July 30, 1995, a 1988 Dodge Dynasty four-door sedan (the vehicle) belonging to Dennis 

Morgan, II, was damaged in a single car accident. The damage appeared to be confined to the 

front end of the vehicle. The vehicle was towed to Downtown Garage, Inc., in Fredericksburg. 

Morgan went to Downtown Garage the following day with his father and inspected  [***2]  the 

damage. Because Morgan could not afford the cost of repairing the vehicle, he agreed to "turn 

the [title] over to [Downtown Garage] and let them do whatever they wanted to do." At that time, 

Morgan's father told Morgan that the vehicle was "totaled." 

 

Maynard Lambert, Jr., was previously employed as a painter at another location by Darrell G. 

Johnson, the owner of Downtown Garage. Lambert's father was employed as a mechanic by 

Downtown Garage at the time the vehicle was being repaired. Although Lambert's father was not 

assigned to perform work on the vehicle, he subsequently testified that he observed the vehicle 

when it was "on the lift . . . and it looked to [him] like the tailpipe was bent and [he] told the 

mechanic . . . that [the mechanic] should check it." 

 

On September 17, 1995, Lambert went to Downtown Garage and spoke with Johnson about 

purchasing the vehicle. According to Lambert, the vehicle was "fully repaired," needing only "a 

trim out," that is the reinstallation of trim, bumpers, and some mechanical parts  [*710]  

previously removed so that the vehicle could be painted. Lambert was aware that the vehicle's 

front end had been damaged in an accident and asked Johnson  [***3]  "if the vehicle had been 

seriously damaged or totaled." According to Lambert, Johnson replied, "No . . . don't worry 

about it; I bought it from a friend and it's in excellent condition." Johnson advised Lambert that 

the bumper, fender, and radiator had been replaced. Lambert started the engine, but did not test 

drive the vehicle or conduct more than a cursory visual inspection of it at that time. Lambert and 

his mother purchased the vehicle from Downtown Garage on September 19, 1995 for $ 3,400. 

The vehicle was sold "as is" without any warranty. 

 

Subsequently, Lambert experienced occasions when the vehicle's power windows and power 

door locks failed to operate properly. Johnson advised Lambert that the problem would be 

corrected, but that an appointment for that purpose could not be scheduled at that time. 

 



 
 

On December 22, 1995, while Lambert was driving the vehicle, it caught fire. Lambert was 

unable to unlock the driver's side door of the vehicle and lost consciousness. He was rescued by 

another motorist, but was badly burned. 

 

On May 8, 1998, Lambert filed a motion for judgment against Downtown Garage and Johnson 

(hereinafter collectively, "Downtown Garage") seeking damages under  [***4]  the theory that 

Downtown Garage had sold the vehicle in violation of the Consumer Protection Act. On July 31, 

1998, Lambert filed a separate motion for judgment against Downtown Garage alleging that the 

sale of the vehicle had been accomplished by common law fraud. n1 In each instance, Lambert 

relied upon the statement made by Johnson on September 17, 1995, to the effect that the vehicle 

was in "excellent condition" and Johnson's failure to advise Lambert of the nature and extent of 

the damage to the vehicle, including the possibility of damage to the exhaust system, as 

supporting his allegations that Downtown Garage had made a material misrepresentation of fact 

with respect to the vehicle. The two suits were consolidated for trial. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n1 Lambert also asserted various other theories of liability in this second suit. The trial court 

sustained Downtown Garage's demurrer to all causes of action of this suit except the claim for 

common law fraud. Lambert does not challenge the sustaining of that demurrer in this appeal. 

 

 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  [***5]   [**716]  

 

In a jury trial held October 25, 2000, evidence in accord with the above recounted facts was 

received. In addition, Lambert called Gregory A. Harrison as an expert witness to testify about 

the origin and cause of the fire in the car. Harrison testified that "after reading  [*711]  the file 

materials, witness statements and looking at the car," he determined that "the fire started in the 

rear of the car and that the cause of the fire was heat from the exhaust system conducted to - or 

radiated through the passenger compartment at the rear portion." Harrison conceded that he 

could not specifically say whether the exhaust system had been in contact with the "underside 

carriage" or "floor board" of the car or otherwise damaged prior to the fire because the rubber 

mounting brackets for the exhaust system had been destroyed by the fire and the exhaust system 

had separated from the underside of the car as a result. 

 

At the conclusion of Lambert's evidence, Downtown Garage made a motion to strike the 

evidence as to both theories of liability. In reviewing the evidence, the trial court stated that "for 

the purposes of this [motion]" it would assume that Johnson's statement that the vehicle "was not  

[***6]  totaled or not seriously damaged . . . and was in good or excellent condition" constituted 

a misrepresentation. The trial court found, however, that there was insufficient evidence that this 

"misrepresentation" was causally connected to the subsequent fire and Lambert's resulting 

injuries so as to sustain allegations of common law fraud or a violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act. Accordingly, the trial court granted the motion to strike and entered final 

judgment in favor of Downtown Garage. We awarded Lambert this appeal. 



 
 

 

DISCUSSION 

 

Under the specific theories advanced by Lambert in the trial court, a misrepresentation of fact is 

a necessary element of proof to his claim for common law fraud, Mortarino v. Consultant Eng. 

Services, 251 Va. 289, 295, 467 S.E.2d 778, 782 (1996), and the claim for a violation of the 

Consumer Protection Act. n2 Thus, the dispositive question in this appeal is whether Lambert's 

evidence established that Downtown Garage made a fraudulent misrepresentation of fact. The 

applicable standard of review is clear: 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n2 Lambert cites three subsections of Code § 59.1-200 as supporting his contention that the jury 

could have found that Downtown Garage violated the Consumer Protection Act. Subsection 6 

prohibits a supplier from "misrepresenting that goods or services are of a particular standard, 

quality, grade, style, or model;" subsection 10 prohibits "misrepresenting that repairs, alterations, 

modifications, or services have been performed or parts installed;" and subsection 14 prohibits 

"using any other deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation in 

connection with a consumer transaction." 

 

 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  [***7]  

 

 [*712]  The standard under which a trial court should review the evidence adduced at trial 

before granting a motion to strike the case at the end of a plaintiff's evidence is well settled under 

prior decisions of this Court. That standard requires the trial court to accept as true all the 

evidence favorable to the plaintiff as well as any reasonable inference a jury might draw 

therefrom which would sustain the plaintiff's cause of action. 

  

Austin v. Shoney's, Inc., 254 Va. 134, 138, 486 S.E.2d 285, 287 (1997); accord Claycomb v. 

Didawick, 256 Va. 332, 335, 505 S.E.2d 202, 204 (1998). 

 

This standard also applies to this Court's review of the trial court's decision to strike the 

plaintiff's evidence. Therefore, we consider the evidence in this case, and all reasonable 

inferences to be drawn from it, in the light most favorable to Lambert. Page v. Arnold, 227 Va. 

74, 76, 314 S.E.2d 57, 58 (1984). Although the trial court chose to assume, without deciding, that 

Johnson's statement regarding the vehicle constituted a fraudulent misrepresentation, we must 

review all the evidence in order to determine whether Lambert made out a prima facie  [***8]  

case for either common law fraud or a violation of the Consumer Protection Act. 

 

There is no dispute that Downtown Garage is a "supplier" as that term is defined in Code § 

59.1-198 or that the sale of the vehicle was a consumer transaction. Lambert contends that 

Johnson's statement, in response to Lambert's question whether the vehicle had been "seriously 

damaged or totaled," that the vehicle was "in excellent condition" is a misrepresentation of the 



 
 

type  [**717]  contemplated in Code § 59.1-200. Lambert further contends that this statement is 

also sufficient to support his claim for common law fraud. We disagree. 

 

Whether a supplier's, or other person's, statement is alleged to have violated a common law or 

statutory standard, as in this case, "'it is well settled that a misrepresentation, the falsity of which 

will afford ground for an action for damages, must be of an existing fact, and not the mere 

expression of an opinion. The mere expression of an opinion, however strong and positive the 

language may be, is no fraud.'" Yuzefovsky v. St. John's Wood Apartments, 261 Va. 97, 110-11, 

540 S.E.2d 134, 142 (2001) (quoting  [***9]  Saxby v. Southern Land Co., 109 Va. 196, 198, 63 

S.E. 423, 424 (1909)). " 'We have not, however, established a bright line test to ascertain whether 

false representations constitute matters of opinion or statements of fact.' " Yuzefovsky, 261 Va. 

at 111, 540 S.E.2d at 142 (quoting Mortarino,  [*713]  251 Va. at 293, 467 S.E.2d at 781). 

Nonetheless, we have recognized that "commendatory statements, trade talk, or puffing, do not 

constitute fraud because statements of this nature are generally regarded as mere expressions of 

opinion which cannot rightfully be relied upon, at least where the parties deal on equal terms." 

Tate v. Colony House Builders, 257 Va. 78, 84, 508 S.E.2d 597, 600 (1999); accord Henning v. 

Kyle, 190 Va. 247, 252, 56 S.E.2d 67, 69 (1949). 

 

Even in the light most favorable to Lambert, Johnson's statement that the vehicle was in 

"excellent" condition cannot be viewed as anything more than an opinion. Merely stating that 

property is in excellent condition, without more, is clearly a matter of opinion in the manner of 

puffing. See, e.g., Tate, 257 Va. at 84, 508 S.E.2d at 600  [***10]  ("highest quality"); Henning, 

190 Va. at 252, 56 S.E.2d at 69 ("good condition"). Consequently, this statement did not 

constitute fraud or violate the Consumer Protection Act. 

 

Lambert contends, however, that Johnson's statement was also an affirmation that the vehicle had 

not been "seriously damaged or totaled," when in fact Johnson knew the vehicle had sustained 

extensive damage. n3 The record reflects, however, that Lambert, who was knowledgeable on 

the subject of vehicle repairs, was fully aware that this particular vehicle had been damaged in an 

accident and that it had required extensive repairs to its front end, including the replacement of 

the radiator. In this context, Lambert should have recognized that Johnson's statement was part 

of a sales pitch and merely expressed an opinion that the damage, because it was repairable, was 

not "serious." 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n3 Moreover, Lambert places great emphasis on the fact that Morgan testified that the vehicle 

was "totaled" and, thus, that Johnson should have advised Lambert of this fact in response to his 

question. The parties agree that "totaled" is a term of art within the automobile repair industry 

meaning that the cost of repairing a vehicle would exceed the fair market value of the vehicle if 

repaired. Viewing Morgan's testimony in full, however, it is clear that the assessment by 

Morgan, or his father, that the vehicle was "totaled" was based solely upon their determination 

that they could not afford to repair the vehicle. 

 

 



 
 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -  [***11]  

 

Lambert further contends that, with respect to his claim for a violation of the Consumer 

Protection Act, Johnson had an affirmative duty to "disclose the nature and extent of the 

damages and repairs" to the vehicle, and that his failure to do so "constitutes a violation of the 

Act." In support of this contention, Lambert relies upon an opinion of the Attorney General 

which states that "because misrepresentation by omission or silence can occur at common law, it 

follows that misrepresentation by silence can also violate the Act. . . . Thus,  [*714]  failure to 

disclose the prior wreck or repair of a vehicle would be a form of misrepresentation." 1985-86 

Op. Va. Att'y Gen. 324, 324-25. The Attorney General goes on to opine that "when the duty [to 

disclose] arises because of the materiality of the wreck, damage or repairs, a dealer need simply 

disclose to the prospective buyer . . . that the vehicle was wrecked, the extent or nature of repairs, 

and whether and how any repairs affect the warranty, if any." Id. at 325. 

 

We agree that at common law "concealment, whether accomplished by word or  [**718]  

conduct, may be the equivalent of a false representation." Spence v. Griffin, 236 Va. 21, 28, 372 

S.E.2d 595, 599 (1988);  [***12]  accord Van Deusen v. Snead, 247 Va. 324, 328, 441 S.E.2d 

207, 209 (1994). However, proof of misrepresentation by nondisclosure requires "evidence of a 

knowing and a deliberate decision not to disclose a material fact." Norris v. Mitchell, 255 Va. 

235, 241, 495 S.E.2d 809, 812 (1998). 

 

We hold that a violation of the Act founded upon the nondisclosure of a material fact also 

requires evidence of a knowing and deliberate decision not to disclose the fact. Lambert's 

motions for judgment do not allege nor does the evidence adduced at trial support the inference 

that Johnson knew of any defect in the vehicle which he deliberately concealed from Lambert. 

Accordingly, we hold that Lambert failed to make a prima facie case for common law fraud or 

for a violation of the Consumer Protection Act because his evidence failed to show that 

Downtown Garage, either by express statement or deliberate omission, made a misrepresentation 

of fact with respect to the condition of the vehicle. 

 

CONCLUSION 

 

For these reasons, we will affirm the judgment of the trial court  [***13]  in striking Lambert's 

evidence at the conclusion of his case-in-chief. 

 

Affirmed. 
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OPINION: 

  

 [**582]   [*559]  Present: All the Justices 

 

In his suit against Peninsula Motor Cars, Inc. ("Peninsula"), a jury awarded Gerald G. Wilkins 

("Wilkins") enhanced damages of $ 12,000, a sum conceded by Peninsula to represent the 

trebling of $ 4,000 in actual damages under the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Code §§ 

59.1-196 to -207 ("VCPA"). By agreement of the parties, the issue of attorney's fees and costs 

pursuant to Code § 59.1-204(B) was reserved for determination by the trial court and was later 

fixed at $ 34,183. Also, in his claim for common law fraud, the jury awarded Wilkins $ 1,862.86 

in actual damages and $ 100,000 in punitive damages. In this appeal, we consider whether the 

trial court erred in requiring Wilkins to elect between his remedies. 

  

 [*560]  I. Facts and Proceedings Below 



 
 

  

On March 30, 1999, Gerald Wilkins purchased a 1998 BMW 540I from Peninsula. An employee 

of Peninsula represented to Wilkins that the car was new despite the fact that the car's odometer 

[***2]  had recorded 972 miles. In fact, the car had been previously titled and was considered a 

used car. 

 

Wilkins discovered Peninsula's misrepresentations when he received the title to the car in the 

mail. Wilkins brought an action against Peninsula for fraud, violation of the VCPA, and violation 

of the federal Odometer Act. After the close of evidence, the trial court struck the Odometer Act 

claim. 

 

 [**583]  After the jury returned the verdict and in response to a motion by Peninsula, the trial 

court required Wilkins to elect between the two verdicts. The trial court explained that Wilkins 

had "advanced two alternative theories of recovery based on a single transaction or occurrence" 

and ruled that allowing Wilkins to receive both verdicts would permit a double recovery for his 

loss. 

 

Wilkins conceded that receiving both $ 100,000 punitive damages for the fraud claim and the 

additional $ 8000 above actual damages for his claim under the VCPA would constitute a double 

recovery. He also conceded that receiving both $ 1,862.86 under the fraud claim and $ 4000 of 

the $ 12,000 enhanced damages under the VCPA claim would constitute double recovery of 

actual damages. However, Wilkins maintained that no [***3]  election between the two verdicts 

should be required and that he should receive $ 4,000 in compensatory damages, $ 100,000 in 

punitive damages, and the attorney's fees associated with his VCPA claim. The trial court held 

that by "awarding damages under the VCPA and the plaintiff's fraud cause of action, the jury 

essentially compensated the plaintiff and punished the defendant twice." Wilkins appeals the 

adverse judgment of the trial court requiring his election between verdicts based upon separate 

causes of action. 

  

II. Analysis 

  

The issue before us involves a question of law. We review de novo the trial court's determination 

that Wilkins was required to elect between his verdicts. Eure v. Norfolk Shipbldg. & Drydock 

Corp., 263 Va. 624, 631, 561 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2002). 

 

The genus of election of remedies has many species. This case is not about claims that are 

irreconcilable, such as a claim for rescission of the contract accompanied by a claim for specific 

performance.  [*561]  Nor does this issue involve questions of election between remedies at law 

or in equity. The only election of remedies issue presented in this case is whether the bar against 

double recovery [***4]  justifies the trial court's requirement that Wilkins elect between verdicts. 

We had previously stated that the trial court must assure that a verdict, while fully and fairly 

compensating a plaintiff for loss, does not include duplicative damages. Tazewell Oil Co. v. 

United Virginia Bank, 243 Va. 94, 113, 413 S.E.2d 611, 621-22, 8 Va. Law Rep. 1784 (1992). 

While the precise circumstances presented by this case have not been addressed in Virginia, the 

principles resolving the matter are not unfamiliar. 



 
 

 

In determining whether multiple damage awards constitute impermissible double recovery, the 

trial court must consider the nature of the claims involved, the duties imposed and the injury 

sustained. Advanced Marine Enterprises v. PRC Inc., 256 Va. 106, 124, 501 S.E.2d 148, 159 

(1998). In Advanced Marine, the trial court had entered judgment of treble damages on a claim 

pursuant to Code § 18.2-499 and -500 for conspiracy to injure plaintiff in its reputation, trade, 

business or profession. Additionally, the trial court had entered judgment for punitive damages 

on three separate counts involving "breach of fiduciary duty, intentional interference [***5]  

with contractual relations, and intentional interference with prospective business and contractual 

relations." Id. Concluding on appeal that the awards were not duplicative, we stated: 

 

The awards of punitive and treble damages were based on separate claims involving different 

duties and injuries. . . . To prevail in its business conspiracy claim, PRC was required to prove 

that the defendants combined, associated, agreed, or acted in concert together for the purpose of 

willfully and maliciously injuring PRC in its business "by any means whatever." Code § 

18.2-499. In contrast the [other claims] do not require such proof and relate solely to the 

employment relationship between PRC and the PRC Managers and employees. Thus, the 

chancellor did not err in awarding PRC both punitive and treble damages. 

  

Id. at 124-25, 501 S.E.2d at 159. 

 

However, when the claims, duties, and injuries are the same, duplicative recovery is barred. In 

Moore v. Virginia Int'l Terminals, 254 Va. 46, 49, 486 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1997), we affirmed the 

right of an injured worker to seek compensation under either or both the federal  [*562]  

Longshore Act  [***6]  and the state workers' compensation statutes, but "the  [**584]  claimant, 

however, is entitled to only a single recovery for his injuries." 

 

Unlike the circumstances presented in Advanced Marine, the causes of action brought by 

Wilkins have the potential for duplication of damages. However, Wilkins concedes that he is 

only entitled to one award of compensatory damages, one award of exemplary damages, and one 

award of attorney's fees. He does not seek a judgment for the actual damages awarded in the 

VCPA claim in addition to the actual damages awarded in the fraud claim. He maintains that the 

trebled portion of the verdict under the VCPA is in the nature of exemplary or punitive damages 

and does not seek recovery of that portion of the award in addition to the punitive damage 

award.* Wilkins argues that judgment should be entered in his favor for $ 4,000 actual damages 

(from the VCPA claim), $ 100,000 punitive damages (from the fraud claim), and $ 34,183 in 

attorney's fees and costs (ancillary to the VCPA claim). Acknowledging that the trial court was 

required to assure that there was not duplicative recovery, he argues that the trial court erred in 

requiring him to elect between his verdicts [***7]  based upon the different causes of action. We 

agree with Wilkins. 

 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - Footnotes - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

 



 
 

* Consequently, we are not presented with the issue whether the enhanced damages under the 

statutory conspiracy claim are duplicative of the punitive damages in the fraud claim. See United 

Laboratories, Inc. v. Kuykendall, 335 N.C. 183, 437 S.E.2d 374 (N.C. 1993). 

  

 

- - - - - - - - - - - - End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

This case does not present irreconcilable causes of action which would require Wilkins to elect 

between them. Rather, this case involves causes of action with different elements of proof and 

potentially duplicative damage awards. In these circumstances, Wilkins is entitled to full and fair 

compensation but not duplicative compensation. The trial court erred in requiring Wilkins to 

choose between causes of action, when all that was required was supervision of the damage 

awards to avoid double recovery. 

 

Additionally, Peninsula argues that an award of attorney's fees and costs under the VCPA is 

duplicative of punitive damages. The plain language of the statute defeats this [***8]  argument. 

Code § 59.1-204(B) clearly states, "Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, 

in addition to any damages awarded, such person also may be awarded reasonable attorney's fees 

and court costs." Peninsula suggests that such language was intended to apply only to damages 

awarded under the VCPA and does not apply to circumstances where damages are awarded for 

an independent cause of action.  [*563]  First, damages were awarded under the VCPA in this 

case. Second, if the General Assembly had intended such a restrictive view of a remedial statute, 

such an effect could have been evinced by plain language. See, e.g., City of Richmond v. 

Richmond Metro. Auth., 210 Va. 645, 648, 172 S.E.2d 831, 833 (1970); Greenberg v. 

Commonwealth, 255 Va. 594, 600, 499 S.E.2d 266, 270 (1998); Barr v. Town & Country Props., 

Inc., 240 Va. 292, 295, 396 S.E.2d 672, 674 (1990). 

 

Additionally, the purpose of the attorney's fees and costs provision is different from the purpose 

of punitive damages. Punitive damages are designed to punish offensive or unlawful conduct and 

deter it in the future. Flippo v. CSC Assocs., 262 Va. 48, 58, 547 S.E.2d 216, 222 (2001). [***9]  

The fee shifting provisions of the VCPA are designed to encourage private enforcement of the 

provisions of the statute. 

 

Accordingly, we will reverse the judgment of the trial court and remand with directions to enter 

judgment for Wilkins in the amount of $ 138,183 plus an award of reasonable attorney's fees and 

costs for successfully prosecuting this appeal. 

  

Reversed and remanded. 
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        OPINION BY Justice ELIZABETH B. LACY. 

        In this appeal we consider whether the trial court erred in interpreting a regulation 

promulgated pursuant to Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a), and in submitting to the jury claims under 

the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Code § 59.1-196 et seq. (the VCPA) and the revocation of 

acceptance statute, Code § 8.2-608. 

        Manassas Autocars, Inc., t/a Manassas Chrysler (Manassas) is an automobile dealer 

licensed by the Virginia Motor Vehicle Board. In February 2004, Daniel T. and Crystal L. Couch 

(the Couches) went to Manassas' showroom in response to a newspaper advertisement for a 

Chrysler Town & Country Touring minivan. The advertisement contained a picture of the 

minivan and listed a stock number, the principal equipment of the vehicle, and the sales price. 

Upon arriving at the dealership, the Couches were told that the minivan in the advertisement 

was not available because it had already been sold. The Manassas salesperson offered the 

Couches a Town & Country LX model minivan for a price slightly higher than the Touring model 

featured in the advertisement. The Couches ultimately agreed to purchase a new red LX model 

minivan. Manassas did not have a red LX model in stock but arranged to have one delivered 

from another dealership that day. 

        The Couches returned to the dealership a few hours later to pick up the LX model. While 

waiting for the vehicle to be cleaned, they filled out the purchase and financing agreements and 

made a $2,000 down payment. 
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When the Couches saw the minivan, they noticed a grey circular "splotch" approximately seven 

to eight inches in diameter with a "drip" mark streaking three to four inches down to the wheel 

well of the passenger side rear panel. The Manassas salesperson told the Couches to make an 



 
 

appointment to bring the vehicle back and Manassas' detailer would remove the stain. The 

Couches made the appointment and drove the vehicle home. 

        Over the next few weeks, Manassas tried unsuccessfully to remove the stain. Ultimately 

Manassas repainted the area affected by the stain without telling the Couches or getting their 

permission to do so. The Couches subsequently attempted to return the vehicle to Manassas, 

stating that they had purchased a new vehicle, not a repainted vehicle. Manassas refused to 

accept the repainted vehicle on the ground that title to the vehicle had passed. 

        The Couches subsequently notified Manassas by letter that they were revoking acceptance 

of the vehicle, and returned the vehicle to Manassas, but Manassas had it towed back to the 

Couches' residence.1 At that point, the vehicle had been driven approximately 1,100 miles. 

        The Couches filed an amended motion for judgment against Manassas claiming that they 

properly revoked acceptance of the vehicle under Code § 8.2-608, and had suffered monetary 

damages as a result of the revocation. They also claimed that the use of the stock number in the 

advertisement of the Town & Country Touring vehicle, without any indication of limited 

availability, was a deceptive practice under Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a) and, because the 

advertisement related to a consumer transaction, it violated Code § 59.1-200(A)(8) of the 

VCPA.2 

        Manassas responded to the Couches' VCPA claim by citing a regulation adopted by the 

Motor Vehicle Board, 24 VAC § 22-30-30(L), ("the regulation") which, according to Manassas, 

permits an advertisement for new vehicles to list such vehicles by stock number as "one means 

of satisfactorily disclosing a limitation of availability." Manassas argued that the advertisement 

complied with the regulation and, because acts "authorized under laws or regulations of this 

Commonwealth" are excluded from the VCPA under Code § 59.1-199(A), the Couches could not 

pursue a claim under the VCPA based on the advertisement. 

        At trial, Manassas sought to introduce the regulation as evidence that the advertisement 

containing the stock number was permissible. The trial court refused to admit the regulation, 

ruling that it was inconsistent with Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a), and that statutes prevail over 

regulations in the event of a conflict. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Couches, 

awarding damages of $3,993 on the revocation claim and $2,375 on the VCPA claim. The VCPA 

damages were increased to $7,125 because the jury found the violation "willful" under Code § 

59.1-204(A). Manassas appeals. 

DISCUSSION 

I. The VCPA claim 

        Manassas seeks reversal of the trial court's ruling that the regulation was inconsistent with 

Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a), and that Manassas therefore could not introduce the regulation or 

argue that compliance with the regulation was a defense to the Couches' claim of deceptive 



 
 

advertising. Manassas also complains that the trial court erred in allowing the Couches to 

maintain an action under the VCPA based on a violation of Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a). 

        As a preliminary matter, we agree with Manassas' statements that regulations of state 

agencies such as the Motor Vehicle Board have the force of law, Sargent Electric Co. v. Woodall, 

228 Va. 419, 424, 323 S.E.2d 102, 105 (1984), and that an agency's interpretation of its 

governing statutes, as reflected in its regulations, is entitled to great weight. Commonwealth v. 

American Radiator 
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& Standard Sanitary, 202 Va. 13, 19, 116 S.E.2d 44, 48 (1960). Regulations, however, may not 

conflict with the authorizing statute. Judicial Inquiry & Review Comm'n v. Elliott, 272 Va. 97, 

115, 630 S.E.2d 485, 494 (2006). Whether a regulation is inconsistent with its enabling 

legislation is properly a subject of judicial review. See, e.g., General Motors Corp. v. Dep't of 

Taxation, 268 Va. 289, 292-95, 602 S.E.2d 123, 125-26 (2004) (holding regulation promulgated 

by Department of Taxation was inconsistent with statute); Virginia Department of Taxation v. 

Blanks Oil Co., 255 Va. 242, 246-47, 498 S.E.2d 914, 916 (1998) (holding regulation 

promulgated by Department of Taxation was not inconsistent with statute); WTAR Radio-TV 

Corp. v. Commonwealth, 217 Va. 877, 879-80, 234 S.E.2d 245, 246-47 (1977) (holding 

regulation promulgated by the Commissioner of the Revenue was not "unwarranted extension" 

of statute). 

        Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a) prohibits a motor vehicle dealer from advertising for sale a vehicle 

which the dealer has no intention to sell at the price or terms advertised. That section states: 

        If a specific vehicle is advertised, the seller shall be in possession of a reasonable supply of 

said vehicles, and they shall be available at the advertised price. If the advertised vehicle is 

available only in limited numbers or only by order, that shall be stated in the advertisement. For 

purposes of this subdivision, the listing of a vehicle by stock number or vehicle identification 

number in the advertisement for a used vehicle is one means of satisfactorily disclosing a 

limitation of availability. Stock numbers or vehicle identification numbers shall not be used in 

advertising a new vehicle unless the advertisement clearly and conspicuously discloses that it 

relates to only one vehicle. 

        Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a). The regulation promulgated by the Motor Vehicle Board pursuant 

to this statute states in relevant part: 

        If the advertised vehicle is available only in limited numbers or only by order, that shall be 

stated in the advertisement. The listing of vehicles by stock numbers or vehicle identification 

numbers is permissible and is one means of satisfactorily disclosing a limitation of availability, 

provided a separate number is used for each vehicle. 



 
 

        24 VAC § 22-30-30(L). Manassas argues that Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a) specifically allows the 

use of stock numbers in advertising new vehicles "as long as the advertisement clearly and 

conspicuously discloses that the stock number used in the ad relates to only one vehicle." The 

regulation, according to Manassas, is consistent with the statute because the regulation states 

that, if a separate stock number is used for each car in the advertisement, the stock number 

satisfactorily discloses limitation of availability. 

        Manassas' interpretation ignores the prohibition in Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a) against using a 

stock number in the advertisement of new cars to indicate limited availability "unless the 

advertisement clearly and conspicuously discloses that it relates to only one vehicle." The plain 

meaning of this section is that, for new car advertisements, the stock number alone is 

insufficient to show limited availability and that something in the advertisement, in addition to 

the stock number, must clearly and conspicuously indicate that only one vehicle is available. The 

regulation, however, specifically allows the use of the stock number alone in an advertisement 

for a new car to serve as an indication of limited availability. Therefore, the regulation and the 

statute are in conflict and the trial court correctly concluded that the statute prevailed. See 

General Motors, 268 Va. at 293, 602 S.E.2d at 125 ("It is equally well established, however, that 

if the language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, a regulatory interpretation . . . that is in 

conflict with the plain language of the statute cannot be sustained."). Accordingly, the trial court 

did not err in refusing to allow Manassas to introduce the regulation or argue as a defense that 

the advertisement at issue complied with the regulation.3 
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        Manassas also asserts the trial court erred in allowing the Couches to "maintain a VCPA 

claim based on their allegations that a violation of Code § 46.2-1581(12)(a) was a fraudulent act 

or practice under the VCPA." While this assignment of error appears straightforward, Manassas' 

arguments at trial, and on brief and in oral argument in this Court encompass different legal 

issues. At oral argument Manassas addressed this assignment of error by arguing that the trial 

court did not have "subject matter jurisdiction" to consider a violation of Code § 46.2-1581 

under the VCPA. Manassas based this position on the fact that Code § 46.2-1581 is not included 

among the sections of Title 46.2 which are set forth in Code § 59.1-200 as possible violations of 

the VCPA. In other words, according to Manassas, the failure to include Code § 46.2-1581 in 

Code § 59.1-200 vested enforcement of that section solely in the Motor Vehicle Board. Manassas 

did not make this argument in the trial court, however, and we therefore do not consider it. Rule 

5:25. 

        Manassas did argue on brief and at the trial court, however, that the Couches had no claim 

under the VCPA because of the provision in Code § 59.1-199(A) that the VCPA does not apply to 

"[a]ny aspect of a consumer transaction which aspect is authorized under laws or regulations of 

this Commonwealth. . . ." Manassas construes this language to mean that any aspect of a 

consumer transaction that is regulated by Title 46.2, or by regulations adopted pursuant to that 

Title, becomes an "authorized" aspect of the transaction and is therefore exempt from the VCPA. 



 
 

Applying this logic to the case before us, Manassas argues that the advertisement at issue was 

exempt from a claim under the VCPA because it was "an aspect of the consumer transaction" 

between Manassas and the Couches, and dealer advertising is regulated and therefore 

"authorized" by Code § 46.2-1581 and the regulation. 

        Manassas' construction of Code § 59.1-199(A) equates the word "authorized" with 

"regulated." This interpretation, if correct, would provide an exemption from the VCPA to all 

motor vehicle dealer advertising regardless of content, since such advertising is regulated 

pursuant to Title 46.2. Section 59.1-199(A), however, exempts only those aspects of a consumer 

transaction that are "authorized." Authorized actions are those sanctioned by statute or 

regulation. Manassas was not entitled to exemption from a VCPA claim on the sole ground that 

motor vehicle dealer advertising is regulated by other statutory provisions and regulations. 

Accordingly, we find no error in the trial court's ruling that the Couches could pursue a claim 

under the VCPA in this case. 

II. Revocation of Acceptance 

        Code § 8.2-608 allows a buyer to revoke acceptance of goods if the goods contain a non-

conformity that "substantially impairs its value to him" and if the buyer accepted the goods on 

the assumption that the nonconformity would be cured. Code § 8.2-608. The revocation must 

occur within a reasonable time after the nonconformity was discovered by the buyer and before 

there is any substantial change in the condition of the goods purchased. The buyer may recover 

damages incurred as a result of the revocation. Id. 

        Manassas claims that the trial court erred in denying its motions to strike the Couches' 

revocation claim because the evidence did not establish that the nonconformity substantially 

impaired the vehicle's value to the Couches. Specifically, Manassas argues that under Gasque v. 

Mooers Motor Car Co., 227 Va. 154, 313 S.E.2d 384 (1984), the measure of substantial 

impairment of value to the buyer is not diminution in the value of the goods on the open market; 

rather, unless the evidence establishes otherwise, the usual and customary purpose of the goods 

— in this case, transportation — is presumed to be the reason for the purchase and the measure 

by which the value of the goods is determined. Considering this purpose, Manassas points out 

that there was no evidence that the nonconformity adversely affected 
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the vehicle's "driveability." The only evidence offered at trial regarding value was the Couches' 

expert witness who testified that the repainting diminished the value of the vehicle by 20 

percent. Manassas contends that the Couches therefore failed to carry their burden of proof on 

their revocation claim and the trial court erred in submitting this issue to the jury. We disagree 

with Manassas' proposed application of Gasque. 



 
 

        The plaintiffs in Gasque sought to revoke their acceptance of a new 1979 Fiat vehicle based 

on a number of problems such as a water leak, heater malfunction, inoperative clock and 

interior light, automatic choke problems, excessive oil consumption, loud vibrations, and other 

noises and rattles. The plaintiffs had driven the vehicle with these various defects for at least 

4,500 miles prior to revocation, and the vehicle had been driven over 8,000 miles at the time of 

trial. The trial court struck the plaintiffs' evidence and entered judgment for the defendant 

dealer, holding that, under a "driveability" test, there was no substantial diminution in the value 

of the vehicle to the plaintiffs and the plaintiffs did not notify the dealer of the revocation within 

a reasonable time. 

        On appeal to this Court, one issue was whether the "driveability" test used by the trial court 

was correct. The plaintiffs argued that the appropriate test was a subjective test, "under which 

the buyers need only persuade the fact-finder that their `faith has been shaken' in the product." 

227 Va. at 160, 313 S.E.2d at 389. We rejected this argument, holding that while a "driveability" 

test "would not be of universal application," the application of the test in that case was not 

erroneous "where the buyers failed to prove any need for the car beyond ordinary 

transportation." Id. at 161, 313 S.E.2d at 389. 

        The record in this case shows that Mr. Couch testified he wanted to purchase a new vehicle, 

not a repainted vehicle, and that the repainted vehicle was not the vehicle they purchased. Mrs. 

Couch testified that, if she had been told that Manassas intended to cure the defect in the vehicle 

by repainting it, she would not have given permission because she "purchased a vehicle at new 

car standards and if you paint it, then, it is no longer a new car." The Couches' expert witness 

then testified that the vehicle lost 20 percent of its value in its repainted condition. 

        This record thus demonstrates that the Couches intended to buy not only a means of 

transportation but a new vehicle. When the nonconforming condition was repaired by 

repainting, the value of the vehicle to the Couches — as a new vehicle — was impaired. The 

expert's testimony that the repainting caused a 20 percent decrease in value supports a 

determination that the impairment was substantial. Therefore the trial court did not err in 

submitting the Couches' revocation of acceptance claim to the jury. 

        For the reasons stated above, we will affirm the judgment of the trial court. 

        Affirmed. 

--------------- 

Notes: 

1. The Couches also notified Suntrust Bank (Suntrust), the lender for the purchase, of the 

revocation. Suntrust eventually repossessed the vehicle. 



 
 

2. The amended motion for judgment contained additional claims which are not at issue in this 

appeal, including claims against Suntrust, which was eventually dismissed as a party. 

3. On brief and at oral argument before this Court, Manassas argued that the introduction of the 

regulation should have been allowed to rebut the Couches' allegation that the advertisement was 

a willful violation of the VCPA. However, Manassas never raised that argument as a grounds for 

admission of the regulation before the trial court and we therefore do not consider it here. Rule 

5:25. 

--------------- 
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This appeal arises out of a dispute concerning the repair and renovation of an antique 

automobile. It requires us to decide whether the plaintiffs' evidence was sufficient to support 

their allegations of both common law fraud and violations of the Virginia Consumer Protection 

Act (“VCPA”), Code § 59.1–196 et seq. 

Facts and Proceedings 

In July 2012, Virginia Beach residents Richard L. Owens, Sr. and his wife Cynthia M. Owens (the 

plaintiffs) shipped to Virginia a 1960 Ford Thunderbird they purchased in Rhode Island for 

$11,500. The car needed extensive repairs and restoration. Mr. Owens testified that he just 

wanted “something to ride to the golf course once in a while.” 

The plaintiffs selected DRS Automotive Fantomworks, Inc., a business in Norfolk, and its owner, 

Daniel R. Short (the defendants), to do the work. Before either party had made any detailed 

inspection of the car, Mr. Owens told Mr. Short that he wanted DRS to install a reliable fuel-

injected engine, a modern suspension, and new brakes. Mr. Short could not quote an exact price 

without a detailed inspection of the car. Nevertheless, he gave Mr. Owens a list of repairs he 

recommended and estimated that, assuming there were no surprises upon a detailed inspection 

and no changes in the proposed work, the project could be  
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completed for no more than $40,000. Mr. Owens agreed to proceed. By a check signed by Mrs. 

Owens, the plaintiffs paid the defendants $15,000 as an initial deposit. They made a second 

$15,000 payment after replacement parts had been purchased. The parties never entered into a 

written contract. 

Mr. Short advised the plaintiffs that the most economical way to find a replacement engine 

would be to purchase a “donor car” that contained a compatible engine with low  
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mileage. Such a “donor car” could sometimes be purchased at auction at a low price and could 

provide many other replacement parts at much lower cost than parts purchased at retail. The 

plaintiffs testified, and the defendants denied, that Mr. Short told them that such a donor car 

could be purchased at auction for “a few thousand dollars” which they believed meant $2,000 to 

$3,000. 

The defendants located a 2001 Ford Crown Victoria Police Interceptor (the Interceptor) for sale 

by Lieutenant Alexander Theiss, USN, whose home was just “a couple [of] blocks down the 

street” from the defendants' place of business. The car had been damaged in an accident but its 

engine and drivetrain were intact. Mr. Short considered the engine and drivetrain to be 

compatible with the plaintiffs' Thunderbird. 



 
 

Lieutenant Theiss had advertised the Interceptor on the Internet for $2,000, but Mr. Short 

denied that he had ever seen the advertisement. Instead, Mr. Short testified that the Interceptor 

had come to his attention because someone gave him Lt. Theiss' telephone number. Lieutenant 

Theiss had placed a “for sale” sign in the Interceptor's window, containing his telephone number 

but not an asking price. 

After some negotiations and a test drive, Mr. Short and Lt. Theiss agreed on a price of $6,000 

for the Interceptor. On July 13, 2012, Mr. Short gave Lt. Theiss $4,000 in cash and Lt. Theiss 

gave him a handwritten bill of sale, reciting a $6,000 purchase price. They agreed that when the 

$2,000 balance was paid, the Interceptor would be delivered to Mr. Short. A few days later, Mr. 

Short gave Lt. Theiss a check for $2,000 and took possession of the Interceptor. 

The Interceptor had been titled in Florida. A copy of the Florida certificate of title was 

introduced in evidence, showing a sale of the Interceptor from Alexander Charles Theiss to Dan 

Short on July 13, 2012 for a price of $6,000. Both parties signed the recorded transfer at the 

bottom of the certificate.1 
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Mr. Short had given the plaintiffs a written notice of the terms upon which the defendants 

conducted their business. One of these conditions was that a 25% markup would be charged for 

all required parts that were to be purchased for the work. The plaintiffs made no objection to 

these terms. After purchasing the Interceptor, Mr. Short gave Mr. Owens a list of anticipated 

costs for parts and labor to complete the contemplated work. It estimated a total cost to the 

plaintiffs as $38,093.48. The cost for the purchase of the Interceptor, including the markup, was 

stated as $7,200. The defendants later amended this item to $7,500. 

After receiving this list, Mr. Owens delivered the plaintiffs' second check for $15,000 to Mr. 

Short. During the next two months, Mr. Owens made frequent visits to DRS shop to discuss the 

continuing work and made a number of requests for additional work. As late as September 11, 

2012, he sent an email to Mr. Short requesting that he “add to your to-do list” a series of 

additional items, including rust repair, interior fabrics, finish, and design. During this time, the 

plaintiffs made no objection to the $6,000 price paid for the Interceptor. 

The apparently amicable dealings between the parties came to an abrupt end when Mrs. Owens, 

who was an attorney, wrote a letter to Mr. Short dated September 22, 2012 on her professional 

letterhead. The letter stated that she was acting on behalf of Mr. Owens and herself. It 

demanded extensive documentation of all costs for parts and labor; identification, with contact 

information, for all suppliers; and other information pertinent to the project. The letter 

threatened litigation if these demands were not fully complied with within five days. 



 
 

Mr. Short said he was “stunned” by the letter. He responded in writing that the defendants 

would suspend work on the project until the issues between the parties were resolved. He 

offered the plaintiffs two opportunities to have the vehicle inspected by a  
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representative of their choice and to have both the Thunderbird and the Interceptor removed 

from the defendants' premises. The plaintiffs made no response and filed this action in the 

circuit court, alleging breach of contract, violation of the VCPA, fraud and detinue.2 

The case proceeded to a three-day jury trial. At the conclusion of the plaintiffs' case, the 

defendants moved the court to strike the plaintiffs' evidence as to all counts. The court granted 

the motion as to the fraud and VCPA counts and overruled it as to the count for breach of 

contract. 
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The defense presented its evidence and the defendants' motion to strike was renewed. The court 

denied the motion and instructed the jury as to the count for breach of contract. The jury 

returned a verdict for the defendants and the court entered judgment on the verdict. We 

awarded the plaintiffs an appeal. 

Analysis 

The plaintiffs assign three errors: (1) that the court erred in striking the evidence based on a 

finding that two witnesses were “believable” and “credible,” thus usurping the function of the 

jury; (2) that the court erred in striking the evidence on the VCPA claim by ruling that a VCPA 

claim requires proof of fraud; and (3) that the court erred by striking the VCPA claim because 

the evidence was sufficient to support a judgment for the plaintiffs for violations of the VCPA. 

The first and second assignments of error present questions of law. On appeal, we review such 

questions de novo. Davis v. County of Fairfax, 282 Va. 23, 28, 710 S.E.2d 466, 468 (2011). 

When reviewing the evidence upon a defendant's motion to strike the plaintiff's evidence, the 

duty of the court is to accept as true all the evidence favorable to the plaintiff as well as any 

reasonable inference a jury might draw therefrom. Austin v. Shoney's, Inc., 254 Va. 134, 138, 

486 S.E.2d 285, 287 (1997). We therefore examine the state of the evidence before the court at 

the close of the plaintiffs' case. The crucial issue at that stage was whether the defendants had 

paid $6,000 for the Interceptor as they contended, or a lesser price, as the plaintiffs contended. 

A price of $6,000, with the agreed 25% markup, would have justified the $7,500 item for which 

the plaintiffs were billed; any lesser price actually paid by the defendants would have made the 

$7,500 amount an overcharge obtained by deception. 



 
 

The only witnesses who had any knowledge of the transaction were Mr. Short and Lt. Theiss. 

Both testified that the purchase paid for the Interceptor was $6,000. The only documentary 

evidence on that point consisted of the bill of sale and the Florida title. Both showed a sales price 

of $6,000. No evidence was presented of any lesser or different price. 

As noted, both witnesses were called by the plaintiff. 

When a defendant is called as an adverse witness the plaintiff is not bound by such 

of his testimony as is in conflict with evidence introduced by the plaintiff; but the 

plaintiff is bound  
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by so much of the testimony of the defendant as is clear, reasonable and 

uncontradicted. 

Weddle v. Draper, 204 Va. 319, 322, 130 S.E.2d 462, 465 (1963) (emphasis added). 

Mr. Short's testimony as to the price of the Interceptor was uncontradicted and the plaintiffs are 

bound by it. Lieutenant Theiss was also called as a witness for the plaintiffs. Although plaintiffs' 

counsel attempted to cross-examine him to attack his credibility, the court was never asked to 

declare him an adverse witness3 and repeatedly sustained objections to leading questions. The 

plaintiffs  
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are therefore bound by his uncontradicted testimony. See Clarke v. Cosby, 154 Va. 267, 271, 153 

S.E. 727, 728 (1930). 

When considering the motion to strike the plaintiffs' evidence, the court had to determine 

whether there was an issue of fact in dispute. Here, the jury had evidence before it that a $6,000 

price had been paid for the Interceptor and a complete absence of evidence that any other price 

had been paid. 

The plaintiffs contend that there was circumstantial evidence to permit the jury to infer that the 

two witnesses had testified untruthfully and that a lesser price had been paid. Our examination 

of the record, however, shows that those circumstances do not tend to prove any fact, but are 

merely supportive of a suspicion based entirely on conjecture.4 

Like presumptions, inferences are never allowed to stand against ascertained and 

established facts.... an inference which the plaintiff says would impose liability upon 

the defendants must give way to the positive, uncontradicted evidence which 

exonerates the defendants from liability and demonstrates that the inference is 

based upon speculation and conjecture. 
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Ragland v. Rutledge, 234 Va. 216, 219, 361 S.E.2d 133, 135 (1987) (citations 

omitted). 

It is true, as the plaintiffs argue, that the court commented, when making its ruling, that the 

testimony of the two witnesses was credible and believable, but in the context of the record 

before the court, those comments were indicative only of the fact that their testimony had not 

been refuted and was not, on its face, unworthy of belief. We therefore hold that the court did 

not usurp the function of the jury. 

The second and third assignments of error overlap and will be considered together. The second 

assignment of error asserts that the court erred in holding that a violation of the VCPA requires 

proof of fraud. Common law fraud consists of (1) a false representation, (2) of a material fact, (3) 

made intentionally and knowingly, (4) with intent to mislead, (5) reliance thereon by the party 

misled, and (6) resulting damage to the party misled. The plaintiff bears the burden of proving 

these elements by clear and convincing evidence. Richmond Metro. Auth. v. McDevitt Street 

Bovis, Inc., 256 Va. 553, 557, 507 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1998). 

Proof of fraud in a consumer transaction is alone sufficient to establish a violation of the VCPA, 

but the legislative purpose underlying the VCPA was, in large part, to expand the remedies 

afforded to consumers and to relax the restrictions imposed upon them by the common law. 

That remedial purpose would be nullified by an interpretation of the VCPA that construed it as 

merely declarative of the common law. We adhere to rules of statutory construction that 

discourage any interpretation of a statute that would render any part of it useless, redundant or 

absurd. Instead, we seek to read statutory language so as to give effect to every word. Lynchburg 

Division of Social Services v. Cook, 276 Va. 465, 483, 666 S.E.2d 361, 370 (2008). Therefore, we 

agree with the plaintiffs' argument that the VCPA's proscription of conduct by suppliers in 

consumer transactions extends considerably beyond fraud. 

The VCPA clearly does not require the consumer to prove in every case that misrepresentations 

were made knowingly or with the intent to deceive, because of its additional provision that 

damages may be trebled, but only in cases where the court finds that the violation was “willful.” 

Code § 59.1–204(A). 
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The VCPA, however, still requires proof, in misrepresentation cases, of the elements of reliance 

and damages.   
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Code § 59.1–204(A) provides, in pertinent part: “Any person who suffers loss as the result of a 

violation of this chapter shall be entitled to initiate an action to recover actual damages or $500, 

whichever is greater.” (Emphasis added.) 

Applying those principles to the present case, it is apparent, as stated above, that the plaintiffs 

failed to produce evidence of misrepresentations concerning the purchase price of the 

Interceptor, the donor car. The plaintiffs also argue that the defendants violated the VCPA by 

misrepresentations concerning whether the donor car would be purchased at an auction, 

whether its engine would be “certified” (the term was never defined),5 and Mr. Short's 

“certifications in multiple automotive restoration fields.” 

If these were misrepresentations, the plaintiffs offered no evidence of any loss they suffered 

from reliance upon them. They never complained about the quality of the parts the defendants 

provided, the time required to complete the project, or the quality of the work that was being 

performed until the plaintiffs interrupted it. The plaintiffs' evidence, therefore, failed to meet 

the requirements of Code § 59.1–204(A) : reliance and resulting damages. If an unwritten 

contract existed between the parties, the jury, after hearing all the evidence, found that the 

defendants had not breached it. 

In granting the motion to strike, the circuit court commented that there had been no proof of 

fraud because the plaintiffs' complaint expressed all allegations of VCPA violations in terms of 

the elements of common law fraud. We do not construe the court's words to constitute a ruling 

that all claims under the VCPA must be supported by proof of fraud. 

Conclusion 

For the reasons stated, we find that the evidence on the VCPA claim was insufficient to go to the 

jury and we find no error in the rulings of the circuit court. Accordingly, we will affirm the 

judgment. 

Affirmed. 
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Justice POWELL, with whom Chief Justice KINSER and Justice MIMS join, dissenting in part 

and concurring in part. 

In my opinion, the majority fails to recognize key evidence and fails to give the proper weight to 

the circumstantial evidence establishing that Mr. Short defrauded the plaintiffs. Therefore, I 

must respectfully dissent. 

Under the majority's logic, the circumstantial evidence of fraud in this case must be disregarded 

in the face of the alleged wrongdoers' claim that they did not commit fraud. Such a holding 

ignores this Court's long recognition that “it is not necessary that fraud be proved by direct and 



 
 

positive evidence. Circumstantial evidence is not only sufficient, but in most cases is the only 

proof that can be adduced.” Cook v. Hayden, 183 Va. 203, 209, 31 S.E.2d 625, 627 (1944). 

Fraud is seldom, if ever, provable by direct testimony, but usually must be shown by 

circumstances which are sufficient to convince fair-minded men that they would not 

have occurred without the existence of a fraudulent purpose and design. Fraud is a 

mixed question of law and fact but, in most cases, is a jury question. While fraud 

may be shown by circumstantial evidence, it must have a logical and substantial 

basis and can not rest upon vague suspicion and surmise. 

French v. Beville, 191 Va. 842, 856, 62 S.E.2d 883, 889 (1951). 

There is clear evidence in the record from which the jury could have concluded that Lt. Thiess 

only asked $2,000 for the Interceptor and that was the price DRS paid. Although the majority 

states that it reviewed the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs, it fails to give the 

appropriate weight to the circumstantial evidence. In my opinion, when all of the circumstantial 

evidence is properly considered, it is more than sufficient to allow the jury to decide the issue. 

At trial, Mrs. Owens testified that Mr. Short was only authorized to spend between  
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$2,000 and $3,000 on the donor car. The seller, Lt. Thiess, had advertised his Interceptor on 

Craigslist with an asking price of $2,000. The record further demonstrates that, at 10:51 A.M. on 

July 13, 2012, Mr. Short* responded to the advertisement via email. At 11:03  
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A.M., exactly twelve minutes later, Lt. Thiess called DRS. Then, on July 16, 2012, DRS issued a 

check to Lt. Thiess for $2,000 and took possession of the Interceptor. 

Thus, contrary to the majority opinion, the jury was not left with a “complete absence of 

evidence that any other price had been paid” for the Interceptor. Rather, viewed in the light 

most favorable to the plaintiffs, circumstantial evidence establishes that Mr. Short and DRS 

purchased the Interceptor for only $2,000. This evidence directly contradicts the claim that the 

Interceptor was purchased for $6,000. 

Furthermore, the majority also fails to give proper weight to the role of the jury under the facts 

of this case. The majority acknowledges the rule that: 

When a defendant is called as an adverse witness the plaintiff is not bound by such 

of his testimony as is in conflict with evidence introduced by the plaintiff; but the 

plaintiff is bound by so much of the testimony of the defendant as is clear, 

reasonable and uncontradicted. 



 
 

Weddle v. Draper, 204 Va. 319, 322, 130 S.E.2d 462, 465 (1963). 

While the majority rests its opinion on the basis that the testimony was uncontradicted, it gives 

no weight to the fact that the jury could have found that the testimony was unreasonable in light 

of the fact that Mr. Short paid three times more for the Interceptor than Lt. Thiess advertised. 

Therefore, in my opinion, the trial court erred in granting the motion to strike as to the fraud 

claim. 

With regard to the second and third assignments of error, I agree with the majority's legal 

analysis, but I ultimately disagree with the conclusion the majority reaches. The allegations 

underpinning the plaintiff's fraud claim were incorporated into the VCPA claim. Therefore, for 

the reasons I have previously stated, I believe that the trial court erred in granting the motion to 

strike as to the VCPA claim. Accordingly, I would reverse the trial court and remand for further 

proceedings below. 

-------- 

Notes: 

1 The check, the bill of sale, and the certificate of title were all introduced in evidence during the 

plaintiffs' case. Because the plaintiffs called both Lt. Theiss and Mr. Short as witnesses for the 

plaintiffs at trial, the facts recited above were all before the court when it considered a motion to 

strike the plaintiffs' evidence. 

2 The detinue count claimed a right to recover the Thunderbird and the Interceptor. Counsel 

agreed on an arrangement to return these items to the plaintiffs. The detinue count was 

dismissed in the circuit court and is not involved in this appeal. 

3 See, e.g., Va. R. Evid. 2:611(c) (providing that “[l]eading questions should not be used on the 

direct examination of a witness except as may be permitted by the court in its discretion to allow 

a party to develop the testimony” and that “[w]henever a party calls a hostile witness, an adverse 

party, a witness having an adverse interest, or a witness proving adverse, interrogation may be 

by leading questions”). 

4 The circumstantial evidence consisted of Lt. Theiss' earlier Internet advertisement of the 

Interceptor for sale for $2,000 and that someone at DRS had responded to the advertisement by 

email. Mr. Short denied that he was the author of the email and Lt. Theiss had no recollection of 

it. Discovery directed to Lt. Theiss, Mr. Short, DRS, Craigslist and Microsoft Corporation failed 

to produce any such email. The plaintiffs contend that this, coupled with the fact that part of the 

price paid for the Interceptor was in the form of a $2,000 check, gives rise to a suspicion from 

which the jury could conjecture that the testimony of the witnesses was untrue and the 

documents contained false information. 

5 Mrs. Owens testified that she did not care what kind of an engine would be provided as long as 

it was “reliable.” 



 
 

* A Craigslist server document showed that Mr. Short's email address was used to reply to the ad 

on July 13, 2012. 

-------- 

290 Va. 120 

773 S.E.2d 366 

Debra A. BALLAGH 

v. 

FAUBER ENTERPRISES, INC., et al. 

Record No. 141248. 

Supreme Court of Virginia. 

June 4, 2015. 

[773 S.E.2d 366] 

Brandon S. Osterbind (Overbey, Hawkins & Wright, on briefs), Rustburg, for appellant. 

Gregory P. Cochran, Lynchburg (Eric E. Harrison ; Rustburg, Caskie & Frost, on brief), for 

appellees Fauber Enterprises, Inc. and Bernard M. Fauber, Jr. 

No brief filed by appellees Alice Smith and The Realty Group of Lynchburg, LLC. 

Amicus Curiae: Commonwealth of Virginia (Mark R. Herring, Attorney General; Cynthia E. 

Hudson, Chief Deputy Attorney General; Rhodes B. Rhitenour, Deputy Attorney General; David 

B. Irvin, Senior Assistant Attorney General; Richard S. Schweiker, Jr., Senior Assistant Attorney 

General; Stephen J. Sovinsky, Assistant Attorney General, on brief), in support of appellant. 

Amici Curiae: Legal Services of Northern Virginia, Virginia Poverty Law Center, Richmond, 

National Association of Consumer Advocates,  

[773 S.E.2d 367] 

Virginia Trial Lawyers Association, and National Consumer Law Center (Dipti Pidikiti–Smith; 

Thomas D. Domonoske ; Harrisonburg, Susan Stoney; Legal Services of Northern Virginia, on 

brief), in support of appellant. 

Present: All the Justices. 

Opinion 

Opinion by Justice WILLIAM C. MIMS. 



 
 

[290 Va. 122] 

In this appeal, we consider the standard of proof a plaintiff must satisfy to prevail upon claims 

alleging violations of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Code §§ 59.1–196 to –207 (the 

“VCPA”). 
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I. BACKGROUND AND MATERIAL PROCEEDINGS BELOW 

In May 2010, Debra A. Ballagh bought a parcel of real property from Fauber Enterprises, Inc. 

(“Fauber”). Soon thereafter, the basement of the house flooded when it rained. 

In March 2012, Ballagh filed a complaint against Fauber, Fauber's real estate agent, and others. 

She alleged that the basement flooded when it rained at least three times while Fauber owned 

the parcel. She alleged that Fauber obtained estimates to waterproof the basement but did not 

have the work done. Rather, she alleged, it simply repaired the water damage. 

Ballagh further alleged that she had specifically asked about water leaks in the basement before 

buying the parcel. She alleged that Fauber's real estate agent assured her, through her agent, 

that there were no leaks or water damage. She alleged that although she waived a professional 

home inspection, she and a friend viewed the property and did not observe any defects in the 

basement because Fauber had affirmatively concealed them. She alleged that a professional 

home inspection would not have revealed the defects in any event. 

Among other things, Ballagh's complaint included claims alleging violations of the VCPA. 

Specifically, Ballagh claimed that the defendants had “misrepresented that goods, including real 

property, were of a particular standard or quality,” in violation of Code § 59.1–200(A)(6), and 

had “used ‘deception, fraud, false pretense, false promise, or misrepresentation in connection 

with a consumer transaction,’ ” in violation of Code § 59.1–200(A)(14). 

The case proceeded to jury trial. At its conclusion, the parties offered competing jury 

instructions as to the standard of proof required for the VCPA claims. Ballagh asserted that the 

VCPA requires a plaintiff to prove a violation by only a preponderance of the evidence. The 

defendants asserted that because Ballagh's claims involved alleged misrepresentations, she was 

required to prove them by clear and convincing evidence as required for claims of common law 

fraud. 

After a hearing, the circuit court agreed with the defendants. It rejected the jury instructions 

Ballagh proposed and gave those proposed by the defendants. The jury returned a defense 

verdict. Ballagh moved for a new trial, arguing that the instructions on the  
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standard of proof were incorrect. After a hearing, the court denied her motion. It thereafter 

entered final judgment on the jury's verdict. 

We awarded Ballagh this appeal. 

II. ANALYSIS 

In her sole assignment of error, Ballagh asserts that the circuit court erred by instructing the 

jury that she was required to prove her VCPA claims by clear and convincing evidence, rather 

than by a preponderance of the evidence. She argues that the VCPA creates a new, statutory 

cause of action that is distinct from and in addition to common law fraud. She argues that a 

preponderance of the evidence is the default standard of proof for statutory causes of action 

unless the General Assembly expressly provides for a higher standard. She argues that the 

preponderance standard is especially warranted here because the express language of the statute 

states that the General Assembly enacted it with a remedial purpose, and remedial legislation is 

to be construed and applied liberally by the courts. 

Questions relating to burden of proof, including the standard of proof and which party bears the 

burden to meet it, are questions  
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of law reviewed de novo. Mulford v. Walnut Hill Farm Group, LLC, 282 Va. 98, 111, 712 S.E.2d 

468, 476 (2011). 

We agree that the VCPA creates a new, statutory cause of action distinct from and in addition to 

common law fraud. Owens v. DRS Auto. Fantomworks, Inc., 288 Va. 489, 497, 764 S.E.2d 256, 

260 (2014) (“[T]he legislative purpose underlying the VCPA was, in large part, to expand the 

remedies afforded to consumers and to relax the restrictions imposed upon them by the 

common law.... Therefore, [it] extends considerably beyond fraud.”). The elements of the two 

claims are different. Wilkins v. Peninsula Motor Cars, 266 Va. 558, 562, 587 S.E.2d 581, 584 

(2003). In fact, although a plaintiff may not recover double damages by claiming both a VCPA 

violation and common law fraud, he or she may present both claims in the same action and elect 

between the damages awarded if both are proven. Id. 

We also agree that “the ordinary burden in civil actions [is] preponderance of the evidence.” 

Wyatt v. McDermott, 283 Va. 685, 700, 725 S.E.2d 555, 563 (2012). Accordingly, we presume 

that  
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when the General Assembly creates a new, statutory cause of action, it intends the 

preponderance standard to apply unless it expressly states otherwise. 



 
 

The defendants argue that there are several indicators within the VCPA showing that the 

General Assembly intended a higher standard of proof to apply, but none of them are express 

statements of such intent. 

First, the defendants argue that when enacting the VCPA, the legislature deviated from the 

language in the model Uniform Deceptive Trade Practices Act. They cite examples where it 

chose to use the words “fraudulent” and “misrepresenting” in the VCPA in lieu of the phrases 

“deceptive” and “causes likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding as to” used in the model 

act. Compare Unif. Deceptive Trade Practices Act § 2(a), 9A U.L.A. 14 (Supp.1967) with Code § 

59.1–200(A). They contend that these deviations from the model act express legislative intent to 

conform the statute's standard of proof to the standard for common law fraud. We disagree. 

The principal source from which to determine the General Assembly's intent in enacting a 

statute is the language it used in the statute itself. Virginia Dep't of Health v. Kepa, Inc., ––– 

Va. ––––, ––––, 766 S.E.2d 884, 889 (2015). When that language is not sufficiently clear, we 

also may consider why the statute was enacted. Copeland v. Todd, 282 Va. 183, 193, 715 S.E.2d 

11, 16 (2011). 

The legislature seldom chooses to expressly direct the courts how to apply a statute. When it 

does so we must pay special attention to that choice and ensure that it is given full effect. The 

General Assembly chose to include such direction in the VCPA. It declared that the VCPA “shall 

be applied as remedial legislation to promote fair and ethical standards of dealing between 

suppliers and the consuming public.” Code § 59.1–197. We construe remedial legislation 

liberally, in favor of the injured party. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours & Co. v. Eggleston, 264 Va. 13, 

17, 563 S.E.2d 685, 687 (2002). 

Thus, the General Assembly's decision to define the elements of the VCPA using terms of art 

already familiar to the bench and bar from common law fraud is insufficient to express an intent 

that plaintiffs must prove claims of VCPA violations by clear  

[290 Va. 126] 

and convincing evidence. Despite the defendants' argument, any light the adoption of such 

terms may shed on the standard of proof is eclipsed by the legislature's express direction that we 

apply the VCPA as remedial legislation. That language supports a conclusion that it intended 

that we apply the lower, preponderance standard more favorable to the injured plaintiff. 

Next, the defendants note that Code § 59.1–207 provides an affirmative defense in certain 

circumstances, and expressly provides a preponderance of the evidence standard of proof for 

that defense. They argue that this provision would be superfluous or redundant if the 

preponderance standard applied to the whole VCPA, and such a result would contravene our 

canons of statutory construction. See Owens, 288 Va. at 497, 764 S.E.2d at 260. 
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Although this is a plausible argument, the General Assembly's decision to expressly provide a 

preponderance standard of proof for a defendant's affirmative defense is not an express 

statement that it intended a clear and convincing evidence standard to apply to a plaintiff's 

VCPA claims. The implication that the higher standard applies to the plaintiff because the lower 

standard applies to the defendant is again simply too subtle, especially in the face of both the 

general presumption that the preponderance standard applies to civil actions and the rule that 

remedial legislation is construed in favor of the injured party. 

The defendants also argue that a statute is presumed not to alter the common law unless the 

legislature has expressly indicated otherwise. They argue that allowing a plaintiff to prove a 

misrepresentation for the purposes of the VCPA by a preponderance of the evidence would alter 

the common law without such express indication by the General Assembly. However, as noted 

above, the VCPA creates a new, statutory cause of action in addition to common law fraud. It 

does not replace or in any way narrow the tort of common law fraud. Accordingly, applying the 

preponderance standard to allegations of VCPA violations does not alter the common law. 

The defendants also argue that the VCPA provides extraordinary relief, including the possibility 

of treble damages, which they contend shows the General Assembly intended a higher standard 

of proof to apply. However, many statutes include similar provisions without imposing a higher 

standard of proof. See, e.g., 
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Code §§ 8.01–27.2 (authorizing treble damages for giving a bad check for rent), 8.01–27.4 

(authorizing treble damages for failure to apply insurance proceeds to unpaid balances for 

professional services), 18.2–190.8 (authorizing treble damages for using an unlawful electronic 

communication device for commercial advantage or financial gain), 55–216 (authorizing treble 

damages for waste by a tenant of real property), and 56–5 (authorizing treble damages for 

damage to property of a public service corporation). Accordingly, the measure of damages 

allowed by the VCPA does not dictate the standard of proof a plaintiff is required to satisfy. 

The defendants also argue that applying the preponderance standard for VCPA violations would 

make common law fraud obsolete because plaintiffs would allege VCPA violations instead to 

benefit from the lower standard of proof. However, as noted above, plaintiffs may, and do, bring 

claims for a VCPA violation and common law fraud in the same complaint. Wilkins, 266 Va. at 

559, 587 S.E.2d at 582. While the standard of proof may be higher for common law fraud, a 

plaintiff who satisfies that higher burden and proves punitive damages may recover far more 

than merely three times his or her actual damages. See, e.g., id. at 559, 563, 587 S.E.2d at 582, 

584 (upholding a jury award of $100,000 punitive damages, 56.68 times the award of $1862.86 

in actual damages on a claim of common law fraud). Accordingly, plaintiffs will pursue claims 

for common law fraud despite the lower standard of proof for VCPA violations, where the 

evidence supports such claims. 



 
 

Finally, we note that the highest courts of several states have concluded that the preponderance 

standard applies under their own states' similar statutes. See, e.g., Aguilar v. Atlantic Richfield 

Co., 25 Cal.4th 826, 107 Cal.Rptr.2d 841, 24 P.3d 493, 521 (2001) ; Service Rd. Corp. v. Quinn, 

241 Conn. 630, 698 A.2d 258, 265 (1997) ; Avery v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 216 Ill.2d 

100, 296 Ill.Dec. 448, 835 N.E.2d 801, 856 (2005) ; Kelly v. Vinzant, 287 Kan. 509, 197 P.3d 

803, 812–13 (2008) ; State v. Price–Rite Fuel, Inc., 24 A.3d 81, 87 (Me.2011) ; Hair Excitement, 

Inc. v. L'Oreal U.S.A., Inc., 158 N.H. 363, 965 A.2d 1032, 1038 (2009) ; Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. 

Land, 186 N.J. 163, 892 A.2d 1240, 1247–48 (2006) ; State ex rel. Spaeth v. Eddy Furn. Co., 

386 N.W.2d 901, 903 (N.D.1986) ; State ex rel. Redden v. Discount Fabrics, Inc., 289 Or. 375, 

615 P.2d 1034, 1038–39 (1980) ;  
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Smith v. Baldwin, 611 S.W.2d 611, 616 (Tex.1980) ; Poulin v. Ford Motor Co., 147 Vt. 120, 513 

A.2d 1168, 1172 (1986). The principles guiding those courts are persuasive. 

[773 S.E.2d 370] 

III. CONCLUSION 

For these reasons, we conclude that a plaintiff must prove a violation of the VCPA by a 

preponderance of the evidence rather than by clear and convincing evidence. Accordingly, we 

will reverse the judgment of the circuit court and remand the case for further proceedings 

consistent with this opinion. 

Reversed and remanded. 
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OPINION BY Justice DONALD W. LEMONS. 

         In this appeal from the dismissal of an action alleging breach of contract, fraud in the 

inducement, and violation of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act, Code §§ 59.1-196 et seq. 

(“VCPA” or “the Act”), we consider whether the trial court erred when it sustained the 

demurrers of Concord Condominium, LLC (“Concord”) to the complaints of Phillip Abi-Najm 

(“Abi-Najm”) and other purchasers of residential condominiums (collectively, “the Purchasers”) 

from Concord on the grounds that the Purchasers' breach of contract claims were barred by the 

merger doctrine, and their fraud in the inducement and VCPA claims were barred by the 

economic loss doctrine. 

I. Facts and Proceedings Below 

        This appeal is comprised of two civil actions filed against Concord in the Circuit Court of 

Arlington County.1 The first action was brought by Laura and Bradford Reed, and the second 

action was brought by Abi-Najm and 24 co-plaintiffs (“the Abi-Najm Complaint,” collectively 

“the Complaints”). The substantially similar suits contain three counts: (i) breach of contract, 

(ii) violation of the VCPA, and (iii) fraud in the inducement.2 The following factual recitation is 

taken from the Abi-Najm Complaint. 

        The Purchasers alleged that they were interested in purchasing a condominium and met 

with sales agents for the West Village of Shirlington in Arlington County in 2005 and 2006. The 

Purchasers entered into separate purchase agreements (“Contracts”), each containing a schedule 

of standard finishes (“Schedule A”) and various addenda. In pertinent part, Schedule A provided 

that the flooring of each condominium would be “Bruce Oak hardwood, 3/4?.” Schedule A also 

contained the following language: Concord “may substitute substantially equivalent materials 

and finishes for those specified herein.” 

        Paragraph 22(a) of the Contract, entitled “MISCELLANEOUS,” contained the following 

provision pertinent to this appeal: 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, acceptance of the deed at 

settlement shall constitute Purchaser's acknowledgment of full compliance by 

[Concord] with the terms of this Agreement. The terms hereof shall be merged into 

and extinguished by delivery of the deed at settlement except for Sections 4(b), 5, 

17, 18, 21, 22 and 23 which shall survive delivery of the deed and shall not be 

merged therein. 



 
 

        At the center of this litigation is the Purchasers' allegation that instead of the three-quarter-

inch Bruce Oak hardwood flooring set forth in Schedule A, Concord delivered “prefabricated 

engineered hardwood, 3/8? [flooring],” and this substitution was “not substantially equivalent 

to Bruce Oak hardwood, 3/4?.” The Purchasers alleged that they did not learn of this 

substitution until after  
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closing on the condominiums, nor would a “normal visual inspection” reveal the substitution. 

The Purchasers alleged that this substitution constituted a material breach of the contract for 

which they sought damages in the amount of at least $50,000 per condominium, in addition to 

prejudgment interest and costs. 

        In their VCPA count, the Purchasers alleged that their purchase of the condominiums was a 

consumer transaction as defined by the Act, and Concord's intentionally false and misleading 

information concerning the flooring constituted misrepresentations of a material fact, and 

fraudulent acts in violation of the VCPA. The Purchasers also alleged that Concord had 

knowledge that the information concerning the flooring was untrue, that Concord acted with the 

intent to deceive the Purchasers, and that Concord willfully concealed the flooring substitution. 

Finally, the Purchasers alleged that Concord “knew or reasonably should have known that its 

disclosure of [the actual flooring material] would have caused the [Purchasers] to reconsider or 

renegotiate the Contracts.” As in their breach of contract count, the Purchasers claimed damages 

of $50,000 per condominium, treble damages pursuant to Code § 59.1-204(A), and $350,000 in 

punitive damages, in addition to prejudgment interest and costs including attorney's fees. 

        In their fraud in the inducement count, the Purchasers set forth substantially similar 

allegations as were made in the VCPA count, particularly that Concord knowingly 

misrepresented the quality of the flooring it would deliver and that this misrepresentation 

involved a material fact. The Purchasers further alleged that they relied upon those 

misrepresentations, and absent those misrepresentations they would not have entered into the 

Contracts. They further alleged that in the alternative, they would have renegotiated the 

Contracts. The Purchasers alleged damages of $50,000, and they sought punitive damages of 

$350,000 per condominium, prejudgment interest, costs and attorney's fees under this count. 

        In response Concord filed demurrers to the Complaints, arguing that the breach of contract 

claims were barred by merger, and the VCPA and fraud in the inducement claims were barred by 

the economic loss rule. The trial court held a hearing on Concord's demurrers, at the conclusion 

of which it held: “With respect to the merger clause, if you look at paragraph 22(a) of the 

[Contract], it is pretty clear that the merger clause applies. And claims that merge into the deed 

can, in fact, and do exist in this case. And as such, there is no breach of contract.” With respect 

to the Purchasers' fraud in the inducement and VCPA claims, the trial court held that “a separate 

tort ... does not exist,” and therefore the “economic [loss doctrine] as [stated] in Sensenbrenner 



 
 

” precludes those causes of action. Accordingly, the trial court entered orders sustaining 

Concord's demurrers to the Complaints. 

        The Purchasers timely filed their notice of appeal and we granted an appeal on the following 

assignments of error: 

1. The trial court erred when it granted respondent's demurrer and dismissed 

petitioners' breach of contract claim on the grounds that the claim was barred by 

the merger doctrine. 

2. The trial court erred when it granted respondent's demurrer and dismissed 

petitioners' claims under the Virginia Consumer Protection Act and for fraud in the 

inducement on the grounds that the claims were barred by the economic loss 

doctrine. 

II. Analysis 

A. Standard of Review 

        We apply well-established principles guiding our review of a trial court's judgment 

sustaining a demurrer. 

“The purpose of a demurrer is to determine whether a motion for judgment states a 

cause of action upon which the requested  

relief may be granted.” Tronfeld v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 272 Va. 709, 712, 636 

S.E.2d 447, 449 (2006) (citing Welding, Inc. v. Bland County Serv. Auth., 261 Va. 

218, 226, 541 S.E.2d 909, 913 (2001)). “A demurrer tests the legal sufficiency of 

facts alleged in pleadings, not the strength of proof.”  
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Glazebrook v. Board of Supervisors, 266 Va. 550, 554, 587 S.E.2d 589, 591 (2003). 

Accordingly, we accept as true all properly pled facts and all inferences fairly drawn 

from those facts. Id. “Because the decision whether to grant a demurrer involves 

issues of law, we review the circuit court's judgment de novo.” Dreher v. Budget 

Rent-A-Car Sys., 272 Va. 390, 395, 634 S.E.2d 324, 326-27 (2006) ( citing 

Glazebrook, 266 Va. at 554, 587 S.E.2d at 591.) 

 

Augusta Mutual Ins. Co. v. Mason, 274 Va. 199, 204, 645 S.E.2d 290, 293 (2007). 

B. The Merger Doctrine 



 
 

        The trial court sustained Concord's demurrer to the Purchasers' breach of contract action, 

holding that Section 22(a), the Contracts' merger clause, caused Concord's obligations under 

Schedule A to be merged into and extinguished by the deed. The Purchasers argue that the 

merger doctrine is inapplicable to this case. For the reasons stated herein, we agree with the 

Purchasers. 

        The merger doctrine has been long-recognized by this Court. See Woodson v. Smith, 128 Va. 

652, 104 S.E. 794 (1920). “The merger doctrine deals with extinguishing a previous contract by 

an instrument of higher dignity,” the deed. Empire Mgmt. & Dev. Co. v. Greenville Assocs., 255 

Va. 49, 52, 496 S.E.2d 440, 442 (1998). “However, provisions which are collateral to the passage 

of title and not covered by the deed are not merged into the deed and survive its execution.” 

Beck v. Smith, 260 Va. 452, 455, 538 S.E.2d 312, 314 (2000) ( citing Empire Mgmt., 255 Va. at 

54, 496 S.E.2d at 443; Davis v. Tazewell Place Assocs., 254 Va. 257, 262-63, 492 S.E.2d 162, 165 

(1997); Miller v. Reynolds, 216 Va. 852, 854-55, 223 S.E.2d 883, 885 (1976); and Woodson, 128 

Va. at 656, 104 S.E. at 795). 

In discussing the doctrine of merger, we have explained that a deed “is a mere 

transfer of title.”  

Miller, 216 Va. at 855, 223 S.E.2d at 885. The deed is the final expression of the 

agreements between the parties as to “every subject which it undertakes to deal 

with,” and any conflicts between the terms of prior agreements and the terms of the 

deed are resolved by the deed. Woodson, 128 Va. at 656, 104 S.E. at 795. 

 

Id. at 456, 538 S.E.2d at 314-15. 

        In Woodson, one of our earliest cases addressing the merger doctrine, a seller of two parcels 

of real estate entered into two separate contracts of sale, each of which reserved in the seller a 

right of possession until November 15, 1919. 128 Va. at 653-54, 104 S.E. at 794. On February 27, 

1919, the seller delivered the deeds, which “contain[ed] no reference to the antecedent 

contracts” of sale. Id. at 654, 104 S.E. at 794. The trial court held that the contracts of sale 

merged into the deeds, thereby entitling the grantees to immediate possession of the property. 

Id. at 655, 104 S.E. at 795. 

        We affirmed, observing that the deeds in Woodson “contained covenants which by statute in 

Virginia ... meant that the grantee ‘might at any and all times thereafter, peaceably and quietly 

enter upon and have, hold, and enjoy the land conveyed by the deed,’ ” and therefore “[t]he 

stipulations in the contracts and the covenants in the deeds, as related to the question of 

possession, [were] in patent and irreconcilable conflict.” Id. (quotation marks omitted). Despite 

the outcome in Woodson, we noted, “[d]oubtless many cases may arise in which distinct and 

unperformed stipulations contained in a contract for sale will not be merged in or discharged by 



 
 

deed where that instrument is silent upon the subject of such stipulations.” Id. at 656, 104 S.E. 

at 795. 

        Since our decision to uphold the doctrine of merger in Woodson, its narrow scope and 

disfavored status are evident in our repeated refusal to apply it to extinguish agreements that 

are not addressed in the deed and collateral to the passage of title. See Empire Mgmt., 255 Va. at 

53-54, 496 S.E.2d at 442-43 (reversing the trial court's application of the merger doctrine to a 

rent guarantee in a sales contract, holding that the rent guarantee was not covered in the deed 

and was collateral to the passage of title); Davis, 254 Va. at 263, 492 S.E.2d at 165 (an express 

warranty contained in a contract for sale did not merge with the deed and was enforceable); and 

Miller, 216 Va. at 854, 223 S.E.2d at 884-85 (a condition in the purchase contract 
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making the sale contingent upon the land's suitability for percolation and its qualification for a 

building permit did not merge into the deed). 

        Our most recent case examining the merger doctrine, Beck, concerned a “contract for sale 

[that] provided that any utility easement would ‘not materially and adversely [affect the buyers'] 

intended use of the Property.’ ” 260 Va. at 455, 538 S.E.2d at 314. The contract for sale also 

provided that “the representations and warranties of the seller contained in the contract ‘SHALL 

BE DEEMED MERGED INTO THE DEED DELIVERED AT SETTLEMENT AND SHALL NOT 

SURVIVE SETTLEMENT.’ ” Id. None of the quoted language was repeated in the deed. Id. 

        In Beck, we observed, “not all agreements between the parties regarding the purchase and 

sale of ... property are contained in the deed.” Id. at 456, 538 S.E.2d at 315. “Such agreements 

are considered collateral to the sale if they are distinct agreements made in connection with the 

sale of the property, if they do not affect the title to the property, if they are not addressed in the 

deed, and if they do not conflict with the deed.” Id. Notwithstanding the language of the 

purchase agreement calling for representations and warranties to be merged into the deed, we 

held, “the agreement in the contract for sale regarding the impact of utility easements on the 

[buyers'] intended use of the property was collateral to the transfer of title, was not merged into 

the deed, and survived the execution of the deed.” Id. 

        In the case before us, the deeds are simply instruments intended to convey title to the 

condominiums to the Purchasers. The deeds are silent as to Schedule A. Therefore, unlike in 

Woodson, in this case there is no “patent and irreconcilable conflict” between the Contracts and 

the deeds. 128 Va. at 655, 104 S.E. at 795. 

        Turning to the Contracts themselves, the flooring agreement set forth in Schedule A “is a 

distinct agreement, does not affect the validity or nature of the title conveyed, is not addressed 

in the deed, and does not conflict with the terms of the deed.” Beck, 260 Va. at 456, 538 S.E.2d 

at 315. Accordingly, we hold that the representations in Schedule A are collateral to the transfer 



 
 

of title, they are not merged into the deed, and therefore they survive delivery of the deed. Based 

on the foregoing, the trial court erred when it sustained Concord's demurrer to the Complaints 

on the ground that the merger doctrine precluded enforcement of the Contracts. 3 

C. The Economic Loss Doctrine 

        The trial court sustained Concord's demurrers to the Purchasers' VCPA and fraud in the 

inducement claims on the ground that the economic loss doctrine precluded such claims. In 

determining whether the economic loss doctrine precludes an action in tort, we have observed: 

The law of torts is well equipped to offer redress for losses suffered by reason of a 

“breach of some duty imposed by law to protect the broad interests of social policy.” 

Kamlar [ Corp. v. Haley, 224 Va. 699, 706, 299 S.E.2d 514, 517 (1983).] Tort law is 

not designed, however, to compensate parties for losses suffered as a result of a 

breach of duties assumed only by agreement. That type of compensation 

necessitates an analysis of the damages which were within the contemplation of the 

parties when framing their agreement. It remains the particular province of the law 

of contracts. See id. 
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Sensenbrenner v. Rust, Orling & Neale, Architects, Inc., 236 Va. 419, 425, 374 S.E.2d 55, 58 

(1988). 

        More recently we observed, “[t]he law of torts provides redress only for the violation of 

certain common law and statutory duties involving the safety of persons and property, which are 

imposed to protect the broad interests of society.” Filak v. George, 267 Va. 612, 618, 594 S.E.2d 

610, 613 (2004). “[L]osses suffered as a result of the breach of a duty assumed only by 

agreement, rather than a duty imposed by law, remain the sole province of the law of contracts.” 

Id. 

        Based on the foregoing, the question whether the economic loss doctrine applies requires a 

court first to determine “whether a cause of action sounds in contract or tort,” ultimately by 

ascertaining “the source of the duty violated.” Richmond Metro. Auth. v. McDevitt Street Bovis, 

Inc., 256 Va. 553, 558, 507 S.E.2d 344, 347 (1998). 

        Notwithstanding the limitations on certain tort actions created by the economic loss 

doctrine, it is well-established that 

a single act or occurrence can, in certain circumstances, support causes of action 

both for breach of contract and for breach of a duty arising in tort, thus permitting a 

plaintiff to recover both for the loss suffered as a result of the breach and traditional 

tort damages, including, where appropriate, punitive damages. Foreign Mission Bd. 

v. Wade, 242 Va. 234, 241, 409 S.E.2d 144, 148 (1991). 



 
 

 

Dunn Construction Co., Inc. v. Cloney, 278 Va. 260, 266-67, 682 S.E.2d 943, 946 (2009). 

        As this recapitulation of the law reveals, the question before this Court is whether the 

Purchasers alleged that Concord breached a duty owing to them independent of any duties 

assumed by Concord pursuant to the Contracts. We turn now to the Purchasers' respective 

claims. 

i. The Virginia Consumer Protection Act 

        Concord argues that any statutory duties arising under the Act “are duties that arise solely 

by virtue of the [Contracts] entered into between the [Purchasers] and Concord.” We disagree. 

        The VCPA was enacted with “the intent of the General Assembly that [it] shall be applied as 

remedial legislation to promote fair and ethical standards of dealings between suppliers and the 

consuming public.” Code § 59.1-197. Pursuant to Code § 59.1-200(A)(6), the VCPA makes it 

unlawful for “a supplier in connection with a consumer transaction” to “[m]isrepresent[ ] that 

goods or services are of a particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model.” In pertinent part, 

Code § 59.1-198 defines a “[c]onsumer transaction” as “[t]he advertisement, sale, lease, license 

or offering for sale, lease or license, of goods or services to be used primarily for personal, family 

or household purposes.” “Goods” are defined as “all real, personal or mixed property, tangible 

or intangible.” Id. (emphasis added). Lastly, a “ [s]upplier” is defined as “a seller, lessor or 

licensor who advertises, solicits or engages in consumer transactions.” Id. 

        Based on the plain language of the VCPA, it is unlawful to misrepresent that goods are of “a 

particular standard, quality, grade, style, or model.” Code § 59.1-200(A)(6). This duty not to 

misrepresent the quality, grade, or style of goods is a statutory duty that exists independent of 

the Contracts entered into between the parties to this litigation, viz., the duty is “not one existing 

between the parties solely by virtue of the contract.” Dunn Construction, 278 Va. at 267, 682 

S.E.2d at 946. Because the Purchasers have alleged that Concord breached a duty existing 

independent of the Contracts, we hold that the trial court erred when it sustained Concord's 

demurrers to the Purchasers' VCPA claims. 

ii. Fraud in the Inducement 

        “ ‘[A] false representation of a material fact, constituting an inducement to the contract, on 

which the purchaser had a right to rely, is always ground for rescission of the contract.’ ” George 

Robberecht Seafood, Inc. v. Maitland Bros. Co., 220 Va. 109, 111-12, 255 S.E.2d 682, 683 (1979) 

( quoting Wilson v. Carpenter, 91 Va. 183, 187, 21 S.E. 243, 244 (1895)). “Fraud in the 

inducement of a contract is also ground for an action for damages.” Id. at 112, 255 S.E.2d at 683; 

see  
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also Augusta Mutual, 274 Va. at 204, 645 S.E.2d at 293. 

        In Lloyd v. Smith, 150 Va. 132, 145, 142 S.E. 363, 365 (1928), we said that “an action based 

upon fraud must aver the misrepresentation of present pre-existing facts, and cannot ordinarily 

be predicated on unfulfilled promises or statements as to future events. Were the general rule 

otherwise, every breach of contract could be made the basis of an action in tort for fraud.” See 

also Boykin v. Hermitage Realty, 234 Va. 26, 29, 360 S.E.2d 177, 178 (1987). However, “ Lloyd 

placed [qualifications] upon the general rule.” Boykin, 234 Va. at 29, 360 S.E.2d at 178. 

“[A]n action in tort for deceit and fraud may sometimes be predicated on promises 

which are made with a present intention not to perform them.... [T]he gist of fraud 

in such case is not the breach of the agreement to perform, but the fraudulent 

intent.... [T]he fraudulent purposes of the promisor and his false representation of 

an existing intention to perform ...  

is the misrepresentation of a fact.... [T] he state of the promisor's mind at the time 

he makes the promise is a fact, and ... if he represents his state of mind ... as being 

one thing when in fact his purpose is just the contrary, he misrepresents a then 

existing fact.” 

 

Id. at 29, 360 S.E.2d at 178-79 ( quoting Lloyd, 150 Va. at 145-46, 142 S.E. at 365-66). 

        In support of its position, Concord cites to a number of this Court's cases where we 

concluded that the allegations were legally insufficient to support an actionable tort claim 

because a contract or an agreement was the source of the duty allegedly breached. See Dunn 

Construction, 278 Va. at 268, 682 S.E.2d at 947 (“The fact that the representation was made in 

order to obtain payment ... does not take the fraud outside of the contract relationship.”); 

Augusta Mutual, 274 Va. at 206, 645 S.E.2d at 294 (“The duties that [the agent for the 

insurance company] allegedly violated by making fraudulent representations ... arose solely by 

virtue of the Agency Agreement.”); Filak, 267 Va. at 618, 594 S.E.2d at 613 (“[T]he plaintiffs' 

claim ... merely sought recovery for losses allegedly suffered as a result of [the defendant's] 

failure to fulfill her oral contract.”); and Richmond Metro. Auth., 256 Va. at 560, 507 S.E.2d at 

348 (“Nothing in the record suggests that [the defendant] did not intend to fulfill its contractual 

duties at the time it entered into the [contract].”). 

        Unlike these cases, in the instant case the Purchasers alleged that Concord had knowledge 

that its representations concerning the flooring were untrue, that Concord acted with the intent 

to deceive the Purchasers, and that Concord willfully concealed the flooring substitution. The 

Purchasers also alleged that Concord “knew or reasonably should have known that its disclosure 

of [the actual flooring material] would have caused the [Purchasers] to reconsider or renegotiate 

the Contracts.” In short, the Purchasers alleged that Concord made misrepresentations of the 

flooring it promised to install “with a present intention not to perform” its obligations. Boykin, 



 
 

234 Va. at 29, 360 S.E.2d at 178. The fraud alleged by the Purchasers was perpetrated by 

Concord before a contract between the two parties came into existence, therefore it cannot 

logically follow that the duty Concord allegedly breached was one that finds its source in the 

Contracts. Based on the plain language of the Complaints, we hold that the Purchasers have 

alleged an actionable claim for fraud in the inducement. 

III. Conclusion 

        We hold that the trial court erred when it sustained Concord's demurrers. Accordingly, we 

will reverse the judgments of the trial court in each case and remand these cases for further 

proceedings consistent with this opinion. 

         Reversed and remanded. 

 

         

-------- 

Notes: 

        1. Pursuant to Rule 5:9, the two actions were consolidated in this appeal. 

        2. In the Complaints, the fraud in the inducement count is labeled “Common Law Fraud,” 

but the facts alleged are more accurately characterized as a claim for fraud in the inducement. At 

oral argument, counsel for the Purchasers referred to this count as fraud in the inducement, and 

we will do the same herein. Abi-Najm and certain of his co-plaintiffs also alleged counts for 

breach of contract and trespass in the Abi-Najm Complaint. Those counts are not part of this 

appeal. 

        3. In the trial court and on appeal to this Court, Concord asserts that the language in 

Schedule A permitting it to “substitute substantially equivalent materials and finishes” 

precludes the Purchasers' breach of contract action, and that the flooring substitution was not 

material to the contract. However, in reviewing a circuit court's ruling sustaining a demurrer, 

“we accept as true all properly pled facts and all inferences fairly drawn from those facts.” 

Augusta Mutual, 274 Va. at 204, 645 S.E.2d at 293. The Purchasers alleged that the actual 

flooring installed by Concord was “not substantially equivalent,” and that the substitution was 

material to the Contracts. Therefore, at this stage of the litigation, a court is required to accept 

the truth of the pleadings, notwithstanding what a fact-finder ultimately may determine. 

-------- 

 



 
 

 

Reed v. Litton Loan Servicing, L.P. 64 Va. Cir. 447, 447-48 (Richmond 2004) 

 

The Virginia Consumer Protection Act specifically provides that it does not apply to "those 

aspects of a consumer transaction which are regulated by the Federal Consumer Credit 

Protection Act." Va. Code Ann. § 59.1-199(C) (Michie 2001); see also Graham v. RRR, L.L.C., 

202 F. Supp. 2d 483, 490 (E.D. Va. 2002). It is presumed that unless Congress has clearly  

[*448]  manifested an intention to totally regulate an area of law, there is no preemption of state 

law. Cipollone v. Liggett Group, 505 U.S. 504, 516, 120 L. Ed. 2d 407, 112 S. Ct. 2608 (1992). 

"In the absence of an express congressional command, state law is preempted if that law actually 

conflicts with federal law or if federal law so thoroughly occupies a legislative field 'as to make 

reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the States to supplement it'." Id. (citations 

omitted). Litton has argued that the FCCPA totally regulates the field of consumer real estate 

transactions. The court does not agree. 

 

As stated in the exclusion, the VCPA is only preempted in those specific "aspects" regulated by 

the FCCPA. The only case cited by Litton to state otherwise is Smith v. United States Credit 

Corp., 626 F. Supp. 102, 103 (E.D. Va. 1985), aff'd 801 F.2d 661 (4th Cir. 1986). Litton argues 

that under Smith the VCPA is inapplicable to consumer real estate transactions. However, Smith 

dealt with a specific "aspect" of the FCCPA, failure to give proper disclosures of the cost of 

credit. This makes Smith inapposite. Litton has failed to provide a specific, applicable provision 

of the FCCPA that would preempt the VCPA. Without any "aspect" regulated by the FCCPA, 

plaintiffs' claim under the VCPA properly lies as a cause of action. The court comes to this 

conclusion considering that Litton relies on that "aspect" of the FCCPA, which regulates 

fraudulent practices by debt collectors, the Federal Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA). 

Plaintiffs are correct in their assertion that the FDCPA only applies to "debt collectors" and that 

Litton does not qualify as a "debt collector" under the Act. In fact, loan servicing companies such 

as Litton are excluded from the definition of "debt collectors" unless the loan was in default at 

the time the servicing company began servicing the account. 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6)(F)(iii). There 

is no allegation that this is the situation here, therefore,  the exclusion would apply. For these 

reasons, Litton's demurrer to Count I is overruled. 

 

 

Carr v. Sheehy Ashland, 65 Va. Cir. 4, 5-6 (Richmond 2004) 

 

BB&T is correct in arguing that Virginia Code § 59.1-199(D) specifically exempts banks from 

liability under the Virginia Consumer Protection Act. Additionally, the Plaintiffs have failed to 

allege facts sufficient to show that there was an agency relationship between Sheehy and BB&T 

or that BB&T had any control over the actions of Sheehy, such that BB&T would be vicariously 

liable for Sheehy's misrepresentations. The only allegation referring to this in the Motion for 

Judgment is contained in paragraph 18: "at all times relevant hereto, Sheehy Ford, on behalf of 

itself and as an agent for BB&T." Such a bald allegation is not sufficient to establish an agency 

relationship between the Defendants. 

 



 
 

 [*6]  The court finds, however, that the Plaintiffs have adequately pled a cause of action against 

BB&T in Counts I and II, based on the holder clause in the financing agreement. The holder 

clause contained in the financing agreement states that: 

any holder of this consumer credit contract is subject to all claims and defenses which the debtor 

could assert against the seller of goods or services obtained pursuant hereto or with the proceeds 

hereof. 

The plain meaning of this clause indicates that BB&T would be subject to derivative liability for 

any violations of law (including actual and constructive fraud and violations of the Virginia 

Consumer Protection Act) by Sheehy. 

 

BB&T argues that the holder clause should not be read so broadly and, instead, it has been 

interpreted to require that a plaintiff allege that rescission or restitution is justified or that the 

purchased product has little or no value. This argument, however, is repugnant to the vast 

caselaw in Virginia regarding the interpretation of contracts. 

 

When the language of a contract is unambiguous, the parties are constrained by the language 

within the contract. "Where an agreement is complete on its face, is plain and unambiguous in its 

terms, the court is not at liberty to search for its meaning beyond the instrument itself." Globe 

Iron Constr. Co. v. First Nat'l Bank, 205 Va. 841, 848, 140 S.E.2d. 629, 633 (1965). There is no 

question that the language within the financing agreement, while broad, is plain and 

unambiguous. For this reason, the court will enforce the plain meaning of the agreement. 

Because the holder clause makes BB&T legally liable for all claims the Carrs could assert 

against Sheehy, the court cannot dismiss either count as against BB&T and will, therefore, 

overrule BB&T's demurrer. 
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OPINIONBY: LEROY R. HASSELL, SR. 

 

OPINION:  [**764]  

 [*46]    

Present: All the Justices 

  

OPINION BY JUSTICE LEROY R. HASSELL, SR. 

In this appeal, we consider whether a purchaser of a car, who revoked her acceptance of the car 

and sought monetary damages as  [*47]  permitted by Code § 8.2-608, properly filed her claim as 

an action at law. 

 

Bonita M. Love filed her motion for judgment against Kenneth Hammersley Motors, Inc. 

(Hammersley Motors). She alleged that she purchased a 1994 Lexus ES300 car from 

Hammersley Motors, which was unable to cure certain defects in the car. She sought damages 

and attorney's fees. 

 

Hammersley Motors filed responsive pleadings and a motion requesting that the circuit court 

require that the plaintiff elect between her claim for "all monies paid for the vehicle, in effect, a 

[rescission] of contract, and . . . for an award of damages proximately incurred by plaintiff as a 

result of defendant's breach of [contract].  [***2]  " The court  [**765]  required the plaintiff to 

make an election, and she chose to pursue her claim for monetary damages. At the conclusion of 

a trial, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff and awarded her monetary damages in 

the amount of $ 21,174.89. 

 

Hammersley Motors filed a post-verdict motion and requested, among other things, that the 

circuit court set the jury verdict aside because the plaintiff's claim was in the nature of 

"rescission" and, therefore, should have been prosecuted in equity as opposed to at law. The 

circuit court granted Hammersley Motors' motion and ordered a new trial in equity. At the 

conclusion of the proceeding in equity, the chancellor entered a decree in favor of the plaintiff 

and awarded her damages in the amount of $ 8,780.61. The chancellor also awarded her a 

portion of her requested attorney's fees and entered a final decree. The plaintiff appeals. 

 

Hammersley Motors does not challenge on appeal the following facts that were considered by 

the jury in the law proceeding. The plaintiff purchased a 1994 Lexus car from Hammersley 

Motors on August 17, 1998. The purchase price of the car was $ 19,508.90. When the plaintiff 

purchased the car, she received  [***3]  a three-month or 3,000-mile power train warranty at no 

additional cost, and she purchased an extended service contract. Pursuant to the terms of the 

extended service contract, Hammersley Motors agreed to "make repairs or replacement as a 

+result of failure . . . to any part" of the car covered by the warranty, including the engine and all 

internally lubricated engine parts. 

 



 
 

The day after the plaintiff purchased the car, it began to malfunction. The car emitted large 

quantities of "white smoke" from the exhaust pipe. The car consumed "a quart to two quarts of 

oil every week." The plaintiff returned the car to Hammersley Motors at least  [*48]  five or six 

times for repair of the defects, but Hammersley Motors was unable to correct them. Even though 

Hammersley Motors eventually installed a new engine in the car, the car continued to 

malfunction. The car continued to emit white smoke and would not accelerate properly. 

Ultimately, the plaintiff returned the car and keys to Dirk W. Beasley, Hammersley Motors' 

general manager, and requested that she receive a refund of the purchase price. Beasley refused 

to refund the purchase price to her. 

 

The plaintiff argues that she was entitled to file her  [***4]  motion for judgment on the law side 

of the circuit court because she only sought a recovery of monetary damages. Responding, 

Hammersley Motors contends that the plaintiff sought the equitable remedy of rescission and, 

therefore, she was required to file her claim in chancery. Hammersley Motors relies upon our 

decision in Gasque v. Mooers Motor Car Co., 227 Va. 154, 313 S.E.2d 384 (1984), in support of 

its position. We disagree with Hammersley Motors. 

 

As the litigants correctly recognize, Virginia has maintained a longstanding distinction between 

law and chancery. And, "the marked distinction between law and chancery, a product of the 

English legal system, continues to exist in the Commonwealth." Wright v. Castles, 232 Va. 218, 

222, 349 S.E.2d 125, 128 (1986). When a party seeks solely monetary damages "caused by 

another's tortious conduct, he must bring his action on the law side of the court, and either party 

has a right to a jury trial." Id.; see Stanardsville Vol. Fire Co. v. Berry, 229 Va. 578, 583, 331 

S.E.2d 466, 469-70 (1985); O'Brien v. Snow, 215 Va. 403, 405, 210 S.E.2d 165, 167 (1974). 

 

The plaintiff  [***5]  based her cause of action on Code § 8.2-608, a part of Virginia's Uniform 

Commercial Code, which permitted her to revoke her acceptance of the car at issue in this 

appeal. This statute states: 

 

"(1) The buyer may revoke his acceptance of a lot or commercial unit whose non-conformity 

substantially impairs its value to him if he has accepted it 

  

"(a) on the reasonable assumption that its nonconformity would be cured and it has not been 

seasonably cured; or 

  

"(b) without discovery of such nonconformity if his acceptance was reasonably induced either by 

the difficulty of discovery before acceptance or by the seller's assurances. 

 

 [*49]  "(2) Revocation of acceptance must occur within a reasonable time after the buyer  

[**766]  discovers or should have discovered the ground for it and before any substantial change 

in condition of the goods which is not caused by their own defects. It is not effective until the 

buyer notifies the seller of it. 

 

"(3) A buyer who so revokes has the same rights and duties with regard to the goods involved as 

if he had rejected them." 



 
 

 

Code § 8.2-711, which is also a part of Virginia's Uniform Commercial Code, enumerates  

[***6]  a buyer's remedies upon revocation of acceptance: 

 

"(1) Where the seller fails to make delivery or repudiates or the buyer rightfully rejects or 

justifiably revokes acceptance then with respect to any goods involved, and with respect to the 

whole if the breach goes to the whole contract ( § 8.2-612), the buyer may cancel and whether or 

not he has done so may in addition to recovering so much of the price as has been paid 

  

"(a) 'cover' and have damages under the next section [ § 8.2-712] as to all the goods affected 

whether or not they have been identified to the contract; or 

  

"(b) recover damages for nondelivery as provided in this title ( § 8.2-713). 

 

"(2) Where the seller fails to deliver or repudiates the buyer may also 

  

"(a) if the goods have been identified recover them as provided in this title ( § 8.2-502); or 

  

"(b) in a proper case obtain specific performance or replevy the goods as provided in this title ( § 

8.2-716). 

 

"(3) On rightful rejection or justifiable revocation of acceptance a buyer has a security interest in 

goods in his possession or control for any payments made on their price and any expenses 

reasonably incurred in their inspection, receipt,  [***7]  transportation, care and custody and may 

hold such goods and resell them in like manner as an aggrieved seller ( § 8.2-706)." 

 

The plaintiff, relying upon these provisions, filed her motion for judgment, and she sought 

damages at law and attorney's fees pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. § 

2301, et seq.  [*50]  She sought no equitable remedies. Code §§ 8.2-608 and -711 permit a buyer, 

such as the plaintiff, to recover monetary damages upon revocation of acceptance, which may 

include the purchase price. Therefore, we hold that the plaintiff properly filed her motion for 

judgment on the law side of the court, and the circuit court erred when it set aside the jury verdict 

that awarded damages to her. 

 

Contrary to Hammersley Motors' contention, our decision in Gasque does not compel a different 

conclusion. In Gasque, the buyers of an automobile filed a suit in equity against a retail car 

dealership and the manufacturer of the car. The buyers alleged that they purchased a new car 

from the dealership and that after delivery, they discovered numerous defects in the car. The 

dealer made several attempts to correct the  [***8]  defects without success, and the buyers 

demanded rescission of the sale and the return of the purchase price or replacement of the car. In 

their bill of complaint, the buyers sought cancellation of the sale and return of the purchase price 

or, alternatively, replacement of the car with a new one of similar model. 227 Va. at 157, 313 

S.E.2d at 387. 

 



 
 

In Gasque, the circuit court heard evidence ore tenus and ruled that the buyers failed to establish 

certain elements required by Code § 8.2-608. The court concluded that the buyers failed to prove 

that the car suffered substantial impairment of value by reason of the defects and that the buyers 

failed to revoke their acceptance within a reasonable time. Id. 227 Va. 679 The circuit court did 

not consider, and was not requested to consider, whether the proceeding was filed properly in 

chancery. 

 

On appeal, we held that the buyers did not effectively revoke their acceptance of the car because 

they drove the car 2,600 miles after they gave their purported notice of revocation of acceptance. 

Id. at 161-62, 313 S.E.2d at 389-90. We pointed out in Gasque that "although the U.C.C. 

'Official  [***9]  Comment' appended to [ Code § 8.2-608] makes clear that the buyer is no 

longer required to elect between rescission and damages for breach, the buyers in this case did so 

by their pleading. The prayer of the bill is purely for a restoration of the parties to the status quo 

ante, including such incidental damages as  [**767]  would accomplish that purpose." Id. at 159, 

313 S.E.2d at 388. 

 

In the present case, there is no dispute that the plaintiff satisfied each of the elements necessary 

to establish that she properly revoked her acceptance as required by Code § 8.2-608. And, unlike 

the buyers in Gasque, the plaintiff filed her motion for judgment for  [*51]  monetary damages 

on the law side of the court, and she contested the circuit court's post-trial ruling that her case 

should have been tried in chancery. 

 

Accordingly, we will reinstate the jury verdict that awarded the plaintiff compensatory damages 

in the amount of $ 21,174.89. Hammersley Motors does not dispute that the plaintiff is entitled to 

attorney's fees pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act. Therefore, we will remand this 

case to the circuit court so that  [***10]  it can enter an award of attorney's fees for the plaintiff. 

The attorney's fees award should include the attorney's fees that the plaintiff incurred during the 

initial jury trial, the proceeding in equity, and on appeal. 

  

Reversed and remanded. 
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OPINION:  [*111]   [**151]  OPINION BY JUSTICE BARBARA MILANO KEENAN 

 

In this appeal, we consider issues in a chancery proceeding involving both equitable and legal 

claims arising from an alleged business conspiracy and breach of an employment agreement. 

 

PRC Inc. (PRC) is a Delaware corporation that, among other things, provided marine 

engineering services under contract to the United States Navy. Included in those services was 

"shipbuilding support" that PRC rendered to the Naval Sea Systems Command (NAVSEA). 

Advanced Marine Enterprises, Inc. (AME), a Virginia corporation engaged in the business of 

marine engineering, also provided services under contracts with the Navy, including NAVSEA. 

 . . . 

  

IV. PUNITIVE AND TREBLE DAMAGES 

  

AME argues that a chancellor in equity may not award punitive damages because any award of 

damages in equity is limited to compensating an injured party to make it "whole." AME contends 

that punitive damages are in the nature of a penalty and extend beyond mere compensation. 

AME also asserts that treble damages are punitive  [*122]  in nature and, thus, are likewise 

unavailable in a court of equity. We disagree with AME's arguments. 

  

When a court of equity acquires jurisdiction of a cause for any purpose, the court may retain the 

entire cause to accomplish complete justice between the parties. Thus, the chancellor may hear 

legal claims and enforce legal rights by applying remedies  [***24]  available only at law. 

Waskey v. Lewis, 224 Va. 206, 213, 294 S.E.2d 879, 882 (1982). This rule applies "even to the 

extent of establishing legal rights and granting legal remedies which would otherwise be beyond 

the scope of [the chancellor's] authority." Erlich v. Hendrick Constr. Co., Inc., 217 Va. 108, 115, 

225 S.E.2d 665, 670 (1976) (citing Johnston v. Bunn, 108 Va. 490, 493, 62 S.E. 341, 342 

(1908)); see Iron City Sav. Bank v. Isaacsen, 158 Va. 609, 625, 164 S.E. 520, 525 (1932). 

  



 
 

The rule is based on the principle that once a court of equity obtains jurisdiction in a case, the 

court has discretion to transfer the parties to a court of law for adjudication of their law claims or 

to conclude the litigation by giving complete relief in the chancery cause. Iron City, 158 Va. at 

625, 164 S.E. at 525. The purpose of this rule is to prevent a "circuity of action and expense." 

See Smith v. Smith, 92 Va. 696, 698, 24 S.E. 280, 280 (1896). If a chancellor decides to retain 

jurisdiction over legal claims, the chancellor acts "as a substitute for the court of law." Id.; Iron 

City, 158 Va. at 637, 164 S.E. at 529. 

  

PRC's bill of complaint sought  [***25]  both equitable and legal remedies. AME could have 

moved to transfer its legal claims to the law side of the court under Code § 8.01-270, where it 

would have been entitled to a jury trial, but chose not to proceed in this manner. Thus, AME 

cannot now complain that the chancellor improperly awarded legal relief to PRC. See Brown v. 

May, 202 Va. 300, 309-10, 117 S.E.2d 101, 108 (1960). We also  [**158]  observe that the 

chancellor awarded compensatory, punitive, and treble damages under the various legal claims, 

not under any equitable claims. Therefore, we conclude that the chancellor acted within his 

discretion in awarding legal relief on the law claims before him. 

  

We disagree with AME that our decision in Colonna Dry Dock Co. v. Colonna, 108 Va. 230, 61 

S.E. 770 (1908), requires a different conclusion. There, in an appeal from a decree denying 

specific performance of a contract, we addressed the issue whether the chancellor properly ruled 

that the forfeiture of a deposit would constitute a penalty and, therefore, could not be enforced in 

equity. Id. at 240, 61  [*123]  S.E. at 774. Thus, unlike the present case, Colonna did not involve 

legal claims, but only a request for equitable  [***26]  relief. Since the chancellor here restricted 

his award of damages that are available solely at law to the law claims before him, Colonna is 

inapposite. 

 

We also disagree with AME's contention that the chancellor erred in awarding treble damages. 

Code § 18.2-500(a) provides in relevant part: 

  

Any person who shall be injured in his reputation, trade, business or profession by reason of a 

violation of § 18.2-499, may sue therefor and recover three-fold the damages by him sustained, 

and the costs of suit, including a reasonable fee to plaintiff's counsel; and without limiting the 

generality of the term, "damages" shall include loss of profits. 

  

This subsection explicitly allows an award of treble damages on proof of the cause of action 

provided under Code § 18.2-499. Nevertheless, AME asserts that treble damages may not be 

awarded in equity because Code § 18.2-500(b), which sets forth the equitable relief available for 

business conspiracy claims brought under the statute, does not specifically state that treble 

damages may be awarded in a chancery case. Code § 18.2-500(b) provides in relevant part: 

  

Whenever a person shall duly file a bill in chancery in the circuit  [***27]  court of any county or 

city against any person alleging violations of the provisions of § 18.2-499 and praying that such 

party defendant be restrained and enjoined from continuing the acts complained of, such court 

shall have jurisdiction to hear and determine the issues involved, to issue injunctions pendente 



 
 

lite and permanent injunctions and to decree damages and costs of suit, including reasonable 

counsel fees to complainants' and defendants' counsel. 

  

We conclude that this provision does not preclude an award of treble damages in a law claim 

heard in chancery. Instead of limiting the relief available in chancery, this subsection grants a 

complainant the additional right to seek and obtain injunctive relief, as well as "damages and 

costs of suit." The term "damages" in subsection (b) refers to the "three-fold" recovery of 

damages described in subsection (a). 

  

Notably, much of the language from subsection (a) is not repeated in subsection (b). For 

example, subsection (b) does not  [*124]  expressly refer to a "person who shall be injured in his 

reputation, trade, business or profession by reason of a violation of § 18.2-499," yet this 

requirement is clearly a predicate for recovery  [***28]  under the statute in equity, as well as in 

law. Lost profits also are not mentioned in subsection (b), but this subsection necessarily 

contemplates the right to seek recovery of lost profits in equity as compensatory damages. Thus, 

on consideration of the language of the entire statute, we conclude that a chancery court is 

permitted to award treble damages on a law claim under the provisions of Code § 18.2-500. 

 

We also find no merit in AME's contention that our decision in Porter v. Wilson, 244 Va. 366, 

421 S.E.2d 440 (1992), dictates a different result. Porter involved a trespass action in which a 

plaintiff contended, among other things, that the trial court erred in refusing to award him treble 

damages under Code § 55-334 for the unauthorized removal of timber from his property. Id. at 

367, 421 S.E.2d at 441. Observing that treble damages are in the nature of a penalty and are not 

favored, we held that since the timber was removed by one acting under a bona fide claim of 

right, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to award treble damages. Porter, 244 

Va. at 371-72, 421 S.E.2d at 443.  [**159]  Thus, contrary to AME's assertion, Porter did not 

involve the issue  [***29]  whether treble damages may be awarded in a chancery case. 

  

AME next contends that the chancellor's award of both punitive and treble damages was 

duplicative. Although AME concedes that the chancellor awarded punitive and treble damages 

under separate counts of the bill of complaint, AME argues that the conduct underlying the 

claims is the same and, therefore, that the chancellor erred in awarding both types of damages. 

We disagree with AME's argument. 

  

The awards of punitive and treble damages were based on separate claims involving different 

legal duties and injuries. The chancellor awarded punitive damages under Counts I, II, and III, 

for breach of fiduciary duty, intentional interference with contractual relations, and intentional 

interference with prospective business and contractual relations. The award of treble damages 

was limited to the business conspiracy claim of Count VII. 

  

To prevail in its business conspiracy claim, PRC was required to prove that the defendants 

combined, associated, agreed, or acted in concert together for the purpose of willfully and 

maliciously injuring PRC in its business "by any means whatever." Code § 18.2-499. In contrast, 

the claims  [***30]  asserted in Counts I through III do not require  [*125]  such proof and relate 



 
 

solely to the employment relationship between PRC and the PRC Managers and employees. 

Thus, the chancellor did not err in awarding PRC both punitive and treble damages. 

  

We also find no merit in AME's contention that an award of treble damages is subject to the 

ceiling on punitive damages set forth in Code § 8.01-38.1. When the words of a statute are 

unambiguous, we accord the statutory language its plain meaning. Haislip v. Southern Heritage 

Ins. Co., 254 Va. 265, 268, 492 S.E.2d 135, 137 (1997); Archambault v. Roller, 254 Va. 210, 

213, 491 S.E.2d 729, 731 (1997). 

  

Under the plain language of Code § 8.01-38.1, the limitation of $ 350,000 applies only to an 

award of "punitive" damages. If the General Assembly had intended for an award of treble 

damages to be subject to this limitation, it would have included an express reference to such 

damages in the statutory language. See Jones v. Jones, 249 Va. 565, 570, 457 S.E.2d 365, 368 

(1995); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Eaton, 248 Va. 426, 430, 448 S.E.2d 652, 655 (1994). In the absence 

of such a reference, we will not construe the plain statutory language  [***31]  in a manner that 

amounts to holding that the legislature meant other than what it actually stated. See Davis v. 

Tazewell Place Assocs., 254 Va. 257, 260-61, 492 S.E.2d 162, 164 (1997); Haislip, 254 Va. at 

268, 492 S.E.2d at 137; Jones, 249 Va. at 570, 457 S.E.2d at 368. 

  

V. COSTS 

  

AME challenges the chancellor's award of several items of "costs." AME asserts that in the 

absence of an explicit statutory provision, expert witness fees cannot be shifted to the losing 

party. AME also contends that the chancellor abused his discretion in including numerous 

charges, such as fees for legal research and temporary employees, as costs in this case. 

  

In response, PRC contends that under the provisions of Code § 18.2-500, PRC was entitled to all 

reasonable litigation expenses as the prevailing party at trial. We disagree with PRC. 

  

The taxing of costs in litigation was unknown at common law and is purely a creature of statute. 

Ryan v. Davis, 201 Va. 79, 85, 109 S.E.2d 409, 414 (1959). Code § 18.2-500 provides that "costs 

of suit, including a reasonable fee to plaintiff's counsel" may be recovered on proof of a violation 

of Code § 18.2-499. Thus, with the exception  [***32]  of reasonable attorney's fees, Code § 

18.2-500 makes no provision for an award of costs other than those ordinarily awarded  [*126]  

under the general statutes of Title 14.1 of the Code addressing the taxing of costs. See Code §§ 

14.1-177 through -201. 

  

Since trial courts are vested with discretion under the relevant provisions of Title 14.1 to 

determine what costs should be taxed against a losing party, we examine the costs challenged by 

AME to determine  [**160]  whether the chancellor abused his discretion. AME takes exception 

to the chancellor's award of expert witness fees, and expenses for express mail service, 

messengers, meals, law clerk "temporaries," computer-based legal research, "library research," 

photocopies, parking, taxicabs, telephone calls, and transcripts. We conclude that the chancellor 

abused his discretion in awarding PRC recovery for the above-challenged expenses. Generally, 

unless otherwise specified by statute, a trial court's discretion to award costs under Code § 



 
 

18.2-500, or under the relevant provisions of Code §§ 14.1-177 through -201, is limited only to 

those costs essential for prosecution of the suit, such as filing fees or charges for service of 

process. 

  

Finally,  [***33]  we disagree with PRC's assertion that, in Ryan v. Davis, we "did not question" 

the trial court's award of costs for expert witness fees in a condemnation case. Since the State 

Highway Commissioner did not assign cross-error to the award of such "costs," the issue was not 

before us in that case. 

  

VI. PREJUDGMENT INTEREST 

  

AME asserts that the chancellor erred in awarding interest from June 19, 1996, the date of the 

bench ruling, because some of the damages still were unliquidated. PRC responds that the 

chancellor did not err in awarding interest from that date, because the chancellor did not reduce 

the original amount of the award, with the exception of his reduction of the $ 1,000,000 punitive 

damage award to comply with Code § 8.01-38.1. 

  

Generally, prejudgment interest is not allowed on unliquidated damages in dispute between the 

parties. Skretvedt v. Kouri, 248 Va. 26, 36, 445 S.E.2d 481, 487 (1994); Beale v. King, 204 Va. 

443, 447, 132 S.E.2d 476, 479 (1963). However, the issue whether interest should be awarded, 

and from what date any interest should run, is a matter submitted to the sound discretion of the 

trial court. Code § 8.01-382; Skretvedt,  [***34]  248 Va. at 36, 445 S.E.2d at 487-88; Marks v. 

Sanzo, 231 Va. 350, 356, 345 S.E.2d 263, 267 (1986). 

  



 
 

When the chancellor ruled on June 19, 1996, that PRC was entitled to $ 1,245,062 in 

compensatory damages, several matters  [*127]  remained to be resolved. First, the chancellor 

ruled that the parties would argue at a later date the issue whether treble damages awarded under 

Code § 18.2-500 were subject to the statutory "cap" of Code § 8.01-38.1. Second, although the 

chancellor awarded $ 1,000,000 in punitive damages against AME, he announced that he would 

determine at a later date whether this amount should be reduced under the provisions of Code § 

8.01-38.1. Third, in his bench ruling, the chancellor did not determine the amount of attorney's 

fees or costs to be awarded PRC. Thus, as of the date of the bench ruling, the amount of AME's 

liability remained unliquidated as to all amounts except the original compensatory damage award 

of $ 1,245,062. 

  

The chancellor did not resolve these outstanding issues affecting the amount of AME's liability 

until June 18, 1997, the date of entry of the final decree. AME did not cause the delay in the 

chancellor's entry of the decree. Rather,  [***35]  the chancellor candidly acknowledged that he 

was the cause of the one-year delay. Thus, we conclude that the chancellor abused his discretion 

in awarding prejudgment interest on all amounts in excess of $ 1,245,062. 

  

For these reasons, we will affirm the chancellor's decree, with the exception of the portion of 

costs and prejudgment interest specified in this opinion, and will remand the case for entry of a 

decree regarding costs and interest that is consistent with the principles set forth herein. n4 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

 

n4 Although AME argues that the chancellor erred in adopting the findings of fact as drafted by 

PRC, AME does not suggest that this constitutes ground for reversal of this appeal. Thus, we do 

not address this argument on appeal. 

  

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -End Footnotes- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - 

  

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.  

  



 
 

 

A sample way to present some key concepts in a brief 

 

A.  As a remedial statute, the VCPA is to be interpreted to remedy mischief in the 

marketplace and does not require the heightened proof applied to a fraud claim. 

Any person who has suffered a loss as a result of a violation of the Virginia Consumer 

Protection Act (VCPA) may recover “actual damages.” Va. Code § 59.1-204(A). The term 

“actual damages” in the VCPA is to be interpreted broadly to achieve its remedial goal. The 

statutes passed by the General Assembly must be read so as to “promote the ability of the 

enactment to remedy the mischief at which it is directed.”  Natrella v. Board of Zoning Appeals, 

231 Va. 451, 461, 345 S.E.2d 295, 301 (1986) (quoting Jones v. Conwell, 227 Va. 176, 181, 314 

S.E.2d 61, 64 (1984)). As expressly stated, the VCPA “is remedial legislation to promote the fair 

and ethical standards of dealings between suppliers and the consuming public.” Va. Code § 59.1-

197. “Further, it is a universal rule that statutes . . . which are remedial in nature, are to be 

‘construed liberally, so as to suppress the mischief and advance the remedy,’ as the legislature 

intended.” Board of Sup. v. King Land Corp., 238 Va. 97, 103, 380 S.E.2d 895, 898-89 

(1989)(citing Shumate’s Case, 56 Va. (15 Gratt.) 653, 661 (1860)); see also Bowman v. 

Commonwealth, 201 Va. 650, 112 S.E.2d 887 (1960); 17 Michie’s Jurisprudence, Statutes, § 72.   

As held by the Virginia Supreme Court, a VCPA claim is not a common law fraud claim 

and is not held to common law fraud standards.   

Thus, the General Assembly's decision to define the elements of the 

VCPA using terms of art already familiar to the bench and bar from common 

law fraud is insufficient to express an intent that plaintiffs must prove claims 

of VCPA violations by clear and convincing evidence. Despite the defendants' 

argument, any light the adoption of such terms may shed on the standard of 

proof is eclipsed by the legislature's express direction that we apply the VCPA 

as remedial legislation. That language supports a conclusion that it intended 
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that we apply the lower, preponderance standard more favorable to the injured 

plaintiff. 

 

Ballagh v. Fauber Enterprises, 290 Va. 120, 125-26, 773 S.E.2d 366, 368 (2015). Because 

no higher evidentiary standard exists for VCPA claims than for ordinary civil claims, no 

heightened pleading standard applies either.  

 Defendant assertion that the VCPA requires three elements, a fraudulent act, by a 

supplier, in a consumer transaction, does not properly track the words of the statute.  Va. 

Code § 59.1-200(A), states: “[t]he following fraudulent acts or practices committed by a 

supplier in connection with a consumer transaction are hereby declared unlawful . . . .”  It then 

lists 56 separate categories that each violate the VCPA.  As shown by subsections 18 through 56, 

many of these incorporate entire separate statutes or statutory schemes as violations.  As 

explained in Ballagh,  

the VCPA creates a new, statutory cause of action distinct from and in addition to 

common law fraud. Owens v. DRS Auto. Fantomworks, Inc., 288 Va. 489, 497, 

764 S.E.2d 256, 260 (2014) (“[T]he legislative purpose underlying the VCPA 

was, in large part, to expand the remedies afforded to consumers and to relax the 

restrictions imposed upon them by the common law.... Therefore, [it] extends 

considerably beyond fraud.”). The elements of the two claims are different. 

Wilkins v. Peninsula Motor Cars, 266 Va. 558, 562, 587 S.E.2d 581, 584 (2003). 

 

Id. at 124, 773 S.E.2d at 368.  Thus, the use of the word “fraudulent” in the introductory section 

of 59.1-200 does not in any way limit VCPA claims to claims for fraud.  Facts showing a 

violation of 59.1-200 must be alleged, not facts showing fraud. 

B.  Reliance is not a necessary element for all VCPA violations.   
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Defendants also assert that Plaintiff must allege “reliance” as a separate element of a 

VCPA claim even though Va. Code § 59.1-204 requires only that a Plaintiff suffer “loss as the 

result of a violation” to be entitled to bring a claim.  As stated in Ballagh, the VCPA relaxes the 

restrictions of common law fraud such that “[t]he elements of the two claims are different.” Id. 

Reliance as a separate element is required for fraud claims but not for standard VCPA claims. 

Defendants should not rely on the Brown v. Transurban analysis of the VCPA that is directly 

contrary to the Virginia Supreme Court’s authoritative statements about the same. Perhaps 

because it was too recent, Brown did not discuss Ballagh but instead cited the older Nahigian v. 

Juno Loudoun, LLC, 684 F.Supp.2d 731, 741 (E.D. Va.2010) for the idea that the VCPA always 

requires proof of fraud. The statement from Nahigian, and also from Enomoto v. Space 

Adventures, Ltd., 624 F.Supp.2d 443, 456 (E.D. Va. 2009) on which Nahigian relies, is no longer 

good law after Ballagh. The law in Virginia is now clear that a VCPA claim has different 

elements than fraud. 

As stated in Va. Code § 59.1-204, the elements for a VCPA claim are a loss as a result of 

a violation, and a violation under Sec. 59.1-200 must be committed by a supplier in connection 

with a consumer transaction. The burden of proof is by a preponderance of the evidence and 

fraud standards do not apply. To the extent that this Court relied on Nahigian in its previous 

analysis of the VCPA claim and used the term “fraudulent,” the Plaintiff respectfully suggests 

that such term is misleading. Although the VCPA does state that any violation is considered to 

be fraudulent, the phrase can make some legal minds jump from fraudulent to fraud to the 

elements of fraud.  As Ballagh makes clear, such mental jumps are improper. The requirement is 

simply a violation of § 59.1-200 that results in a loss.  
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One aspect in Owens is easy to misconstrue regarding damages and reliance.  A 

significant limiting sentence starts the beginning of the damages/reliance analysis:  “The VCPA, 

however, still requires proof, in misrepresentation cases, of the elements of reliance and 

damages.”  The limitation is “in misrepresentation cases” and the analysis that follows is to be 

applied in that context and when the Court writes that the evidence “failed to meet the 

requirements of Code 59.1-204(A): reliance and resulting damages” it is writing in this context.  

Acknowledging the limitation in Owens is important because that “reliance” is not always 

necessary to prove a loss from a VCPA violation.  Although reliance is an element of fraud, a 

VCPA claim is statutorily based and looks to whether a violation occurred, and then whether a 

loss occurred.  Depending on the context of the violation, some reliance may be necessary to 

prove damages resulting from the violation, but such specific causation is not the equivalent of 

an element for all violations.  Under 59.1-200(A) some of the sections can lead to a loss without 

reliance on a misrepresentation- importantly the following: 

7. Advertising or offering for sale goods that are used, secondhand, repossessed, 

defective, blemished, deteriorated, or reconditioned, or that are "seconds," irregulars, imperfects, 

or "not first class," without clearly and unequivocally indicating in the advertisement or offer for 

sale that the goods are used, secondhand, repossessed, defective, blemished, deteriorated, 

reconditioned, or are "seconds," irregulars, imperfects or "not first class"; 

8. Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised, or with intent 

not to sell at the price or upon the terms advertised. 

13. Using in any contract or lease any liquidated damage clause, penalty clause, or waiver 

of defense, or attempting to collect any liquidated damages or penalties under any clause, waiver, 

damages, or penalties that are void or unenforceable under any otherwise applicable laws of the 

Commonwealth, or under federal statutes or regulations; 

 

Also many parts of each subsection 15 through 54 do not require reliance as the way to prove a 

loss resulted.   



 
 

Even when the loss flowing from a misrepresentation needs to be based on reliance, a 

difference exists between causation reliance and the higher standard of proof for reasonable 

reliance in a fraud claim.  Furthermore, even that higher burden of reaaonable reliance does not 

mean “what would you have done if you had been told the truth.”  The Virginia Supreme Court 

directly rejected that in Nationwide v Patterson, 229 Va. 627, 331 S.E.2d 490, 493 (1985).  

Reliance is simply did the victim take action on the false statement and it is not relevant if the 

victim would have taken the same action on the true statement that was never given.  The law 

grapples with the reality of the past, not the hypothetical past that never existed— for instance, 

the truth might have simply gotten caught in the predator’s throat when it tried to speak it, and 

the resulting death would have kept any transaction from going forward, but we will never know 

because a lie was told instead.  Reliance does not test that hypothetical world that never 

happened because our court system wants to use real evidence of the actual past to make a 

decision. 

Finally, when the false representation by the defendant is one that by its nature is 

likely to induce reliance, the defendant must prove the plaintiff did not rely on it.  

Of course, the false representation which is relied upon to escape the binding 

effect of a contract must be relied upon by the vendee at the time the contract is 

entered into; but when the vendor has made a false representation, which from its 

nature is likely to induce a buyer to enter into a contract on the faith of such 

representation, it will be inferred that the vendee was induced thereby to make the 

contract, and he is not required to show that he in fact relied upon the 

representation. If the seller wishes to discredit this natural inference, he must 

prove either that the buyer knew that the representation was false, that he 

expressly stated in terms, or showed by his conduct that he relied upon his own 

judgment and not upon the false representation. Wilson v. Carpenter, 91 Va. 183, 

21 S. E. 243, 50 Am. St. Rep. 824. 

White Sewing Mach. Co v. Gilmore Furniture Co, 128 Va. 630, 105 S.E. 134, 138-39 

(1920)(see also Grosh v. Ivanhoe Land & Improvement Co., 95 Va. 161, 27 S.E. 841 (1897). 

https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=ty1VN8L%2bXlVju6CrBA2UzICV5UVce%2bizIEi2Yp7GWiAwan1DNtqzNwRv6caPWOwa3yl3mMlwEuFRZEXW2uFd%2fpB2FVkCkEGjZGjX0%2bzmMI8LGb6gR6RctKwYx31VdgKFDOA2WNqjeRd7BwBL%2fNwwQw%3d%3d&ECF=Wilson+v.+Carpenter%2c++91+Va.+183
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=ty1VN8L%2bXlVju6CrBA2UzICV5UVce%2bizIEi2Yp7GWiAwan1DNtqzNwRv6caPWOwa3yl3mMlwEuFRZEXW2uFd%2fpB2FVkCkEGjZGjX0%2bzmMI8LGb6gR6RctKwYx31VdgKFDOA2WNqjeRd7BwBL%2fNwwQw%3d%3d&ECF=21+S.+E.+243
https://apps.fastcase.com/Research/Pages/Document.aspx?LTID=ty1VN8L%2bXlVju6CrBA2UzICV5UVce%2bizIEi2Yp7GWiAwan1DNtqzNwRv6caPWOwa3yl3mMlwEuFRZEXW2uFd%2fpB2FVkCkEGjZGjX0%2bzmMI8LGb6gR6RctKwYx31VdgKFDOA2WNqjeRd7BwBL%2fNwwQw%3d%3d&ECF=50+Am.+St.+Rep.+824


 
 

 

 

MEMORANDUM REGARDING THE  

AVAILABILITY OF NONECONOMIC DAMAGES 

 IN CONSUMER CASES 

 In Virginia, a plaintiff may recover as pecuniary damages an amount necessary to 

compensate them for his lost time, inconvenience, and physical discomfort caused by the 

intentional wrongful action of a seller of goods or services.  See Ches. & Pot. Tel. Co. v. Carless, 

102 S.E. 569, 571-72 (Va. 1920)(reaffirmed in Sea-Land Service Inc. v. O’Neal, 297 S.E.2d 647, 

653 (Va. 1982). In Carless, a consumer had her $2 per month telephone service wrongfully 

disconnected for 16 days while the telephone company persisted in its claim that rent was due 

even though she repeatedly informed it otherwise. Carless, 102 S.E. at 570.  The Court allowed 

her to recover for the loss of her time while the service was disconnected, and for the repeated 

inconvenience caused by not having the phone. Id. at 571.  It held that such losses “while very 

difficult to measure in dollars and cents, are nevertheless pecuniary losses.” Id.(allowing this 

recovery as pecuniary damages even though the plaintiff lost about one dollar of phone service.) 

 In addition to recovering for loss time and inconvenience as pecuniary losses, a plaintiff 

may also recover annoyance, embarrassment, and humiliation damages.  After allowing Ms. 

Carless to recover her pecuniary damages, as defined above, the Court stated “the additional 

injury suffered by the plaintiff from the annoyance, when considered as mental in its character 

only, was proper matter for the consideration of the jury in fixing the total amount of damages.” 

Id. at 572.  These distress damages are recoverable because Virginia approves “the recovery of 

damages for humiliation, embarrassment, and similar harm to feelings, although unaccompanied 

by actual physical injury, where a cause of action existed independently of such harm.” Sea-

Land, 297 S.E.2d at 653 (allowing recovery for embarrassment and humiliation resulting from 

fraud). 



 
 

Any person who has suffered a loss as a result of a violation of the Virginia Consumer 

Protection Act (VCPA) may recover “actual damages.”  Va. Code § 59.1-204(A).  The term 

“actual damages” in the VCPA is to be interpreted broadly to achieve its remedial goal.  The 

statutes passed by the General Assembly must be read so as to “promote the ability of the 

enactment to remedy the mischief at which it is directed.”   Natrella v. Board of Zoning Appeals, 

231 Va. 451, 461, 345 S.E.2d 295, 301 (1986) (quoting Jones v. Conwell, 227 Va. 176, 181, 314 

S.E.2d 61, 64 (1984)).   As expressly stated, the VCPA “is remedial legislation to promote the 

fair and ethical standards of dealings between suppliers and the consuming public.” Va. Code § 

59.1-197.  “Further, it is a universal rule that statutes . . . which are remedial in nature, are to be 

‘construed liberally, so as to suppress the mischief and advance the remedy,’ as the legislature 

intended.” Board of Sup. v. King Land Corp., 238 Va. 97, 103, 380 S.E.2d 895, 898-89 

(1989)(citing Shumate’s Case, 56 Va. (15 Gratt.) 653, 661 (1860)); see also Bowman v. 

Commonwealth, 201 Va. 650, 112 S.E.2d 887 (1960); 17 Michie’s Jurisprudence, Statutes, § 72.   

 Regarding the extent of damages recoverable under the VCPA, this question was 

answered in Barnette v. Brook Road, 429 F. Supp. 2d 741, 751-52  (E.D. Va. 2006), where that 

federal court rejected a limitation on the type of damages recoverable under the VCPA. 

 The Court finds more persuasive, however, the Plaintiff's argument that, as 

defined by the Supreme Court of Virginia, albeit in another context, "[a]ctual or 

compensatory damages, the terms being synonymous, are damages in satisfaction 

of, or in recompense for, loss or injury sustained. Either term covers all loss 

recoverable as a matter of right and includes all damages other than punitive or 

exemplary damages." News Leader Co. v. Kocen, 173 Va. 95, 3 S.E.2d 385, 391 

(Va. 1939). "Compensatory damages are those allowed as a recompense for loss 

or injury actually received and include loss occurring to property, necessary 

expenses, insult, pain, mental suffering, injury to the reputation, and the like." 

Giant of Va., Inc. v. Pigg, 207 Va 679, 152 S.E.2d 271, 276 (Va. 1967). 

 

Courts interpret statutes under the presumption that the legislature acts with 

knowledge of existing law as stated by the courts. Langley, 62 F.3d at 605; 

Waterman v. Halverson, 261 Va. 203, 540 S.E.2d 867, 869 (Va. 2001).  Thus, by 

employing the term of art "actual damages," the legislature is presumed to have 
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adopted the construction given by the courts. Had the General Assembly intended 

to limit "actual damages" to economic damages or out-of-pocket expenses, 

thereby   altering the existing court definition, it must have done so expressly. See 

In re Witt, 113 F.3d at 513. Under the Supreme Court of Virginia's definition of 

"actual damages," the Court finds that the VCPA authorized recovery for 

emotional distress. 

Similarly, in Washington v. CitiMortgage, Inc., 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 52105, 1, 2011 WL 

1871228 (E.D. Va. May 16, 2011), the Court wrote: “Rather, the Washingtons seek such 

damages as a consequence of the other tortious activity attributed to the defendants. Under 

Virginia law, such damages are recoverable. The Virginia Supreme Court has stated that "we 

have approved the recovery of damages for humiliation, embarrassment, and similar harm to 

feelings, although unaccompanied by actual physical injury, where a cause of action existed 

independently of such harm." Sea-Land Serv., Inc. v. O'Neal, 224 Va. 343, 354, 297 S.E.2d 647 

(1982).”  

 Thus, the normal measure of all compensatory damages applies to the damages that can 

be recovered under consumer protection statutes and consumer fraud.  Given that the VCPA was 

designed to protect the public, the use of the phase “actual damages” must therefore allow for at 

the same full measure of compensatory damages as allowed under the common law.   Thus, the 

Plaintiff is entitled to recover both for her loss time, distress, inconvenience as well as her out of 

pocket loss. 
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